

[image: Image]






Thank you for downloading this Simon & Schuster eBook.





Join our mailing list and get updates on new releases, deals, bonus content and other great books from Simon & Schuster.







CLICK HERE TO SIGN UP








or visit us online to sign up at
eBookNews.SimonandSchuster.com








[image: Images]





For my world


Carol, Emily, Geoff, and Adam


and


In memory of


Patricia Gebhard Wright


and


John T. McCartney




“Anyway, that’s my view. And it happens to be correct.”


Justice Antonin Scalia


2008





PROLOGUE


Scalia in Winter


It was a bitterly cold day in Washington, D.C., on Monday, January 21, 2013, as roughly a million people gathered on the National Mall in front of the United States Capitol to celebrate the second inaugural of President Barack Hussein Obama. One man, though, was not in such a celebratory mood. A stocky, balding, distinguished-looking gentleman in a black judicial gown trudged slowly behind Chief Justice John Roberts to his prime seat in the front of the platform, immediately to the left of where Obama would swear his oath of office.1


Surrounding the man on the inaugural platform was a veritable who’s who of current and past American politics, including members of the cabinet, senators, members of Congress, former presidents, and other dignitaries. Usually on occasions such as this, except for the president being sworn into office, everyone else is just a face in the crowd. But, as he usually did on such occasions, this man in a judicial gown found a way to make himself the center of attention.


United States Supreme Court Associate Justice Antonin Gregory Scalia, then less than two months shy of his seventy-seventh birthday, had become the most recognizable and most controversial member of the Court. He had become famous for his “originalism” theory for deciding cases, believing that the Constitution and its amendments should be interpreted according to the meaning of the words as people understood them at the time they were written. But he was just as famous for his provocative speeches and public statements, as well as the controversies that always seemed to swirl around him.


Today Scalia turned heads with his strange headwear, which appeared to be a billowing, puffy, black velvet hat with peaked corners, which the New York Daily News would later describe as a “beret on steroids.”2 Before long the Twitterverse buzzed with comments under the hashtag #Scaliaweirdhat, initially created by Democratic senator Claire McCaskill of Missouri, when she tweeted her photo of the justice wearing his hat.


“How 16th Century German/Northern Italian of him!” read one of the earliest tweets.


“He thinks he’s at the Trial of Emile Zola,” tweeted snarky liberal television commentator Keith Olbermann.


“Looking like the antagonist from a Dan Brown novel,” tweeted someone whose twitter handle was “The Opportunity.”


“Scalia in that hat: the mad medieval monk, fresh from illuminating a biblical manuscript and torturing heretics,” tweeted another.3


Soon, Scalia’s headwear was getting so much attention in the Twitter-verse that he was, in the parlance of the technology, “trending.”


In time, various Internet news sites contributed to the exchange, e-blasting the photo through the rest of the press corps. “What’s the deal with Justice Scalia’s weird hat?” posted Microsoft’s MSN News in the “What’s Trending” column of its website. “It makes him look like a grumpy cardinal from a thousand years ago.”


“If you’re looking for truly weird, once-every-four-years head gear, look no further than the justices of the Supreme Court,” wrote Russell Goldman of ABC News.4


Whether or not Scalia had intended for his choice of headwear to cause such a sensation, or whether he just wore it because it was a cold day and he really liked the hat, he could not have been unhappy with the result. On such occasions, he was usually most pleased if the focus was on him. And it often was. Nearly everyone in the press and public had an opinion about him—either positive or negative. The new army of legal bloggers on the Internet had long ago made him and his views one of their main topics of conversation. As a result, on a Court comprised of nine members, he was always the most visible and most discussed. Surely, at Obama’s second inaugural, having everyone discussing him must have been the way Antonin Scalia liked it.


After much discussion in cyberspace about Scalia’s haberdashery, former Scalia law clerk Kevin Walsh, a professor of law at the University of Richmond Law School, posted on his blog site, Walshslaw: “The twitterverse is alive with tweets about Justice Scalia’s headgear for today’s inauguration. At the risk of putting all the fun speculation to an end. . . . The hat is a custom-made replica of the hat depicted in [the younger Hans] Holbein’s famous portrait of St. Thomas More. It was a gift from the St. Thomas More Society [a nonprofit, socially conservative public interest law center] of Richmond, Virginia. We presented it to him in November 2010 as a memento of his participation in our 27th annual Red Mass and dinner.”5 Scalia, according to the St. Thomas More Society, was “over the moon” about the gift, and said that he would wear it to future academic occasions.6


Far from ending the speculation, though, this news only fueled it. Scalia had repeatedly commented over the years on his reverence for St. Thomas More, the patron saint of lawyers. More was the devout lord chancellor for King Henry VIII of England. In his early career, he had sentenced heretics and religious dissenters to death. Later, when the king asked for More’s acquiescence to remove the English church from the authority of Pope Clement VII, and to the annulment of his marriage to Catherine of Aragon in order to marry Anne Boleyn, More refused. Standing on his principles led to More’s beheading for high treason, making him a religious martyr. Some Catholic analysts on the internet wondered whether Scalia saw himself in a similar battle over principles on the Supreme Court and with the Democratic president.


On January 23, The Christian Post put on its internet blog, “CP Politics,” a column bearing the headline, “Was Scalia’s Inauguration Hat a Birth Control Mandate Protest?” The piece speculated about a reference by the justice to a recent political battle over whether Obama’s new national health care law could require companies and organizations with religious affiliations to fund birth control, even if they had a religious objection to it. The piece argued: “Some observers speculate that the hat symbolized religious conscience protections and was worn to protest efforts by the Obama administration to enforce a birth control mandate on religious groups.”7 Agreeing with this view, Matthew Schmitz, the new deputy editor of the “First Thoughts” blog on the Catholic First Things blog site, posted a piece titled “Scalia Wears Martyr’s Cap to Inauguration,” saying, “Wearing the cap of a statesman who defended liberty of church and integrity of Christian conscience to the inauguration of a president whose policies have imperiled both: Make of it what you will.”8


•  •  •


The chatter over Scalia’s presumed reaction to Barack Obama’s second term continued when three weeks later, on Tuesday, February 12, two hours before President Obama was to deliver the State of the Union address, Scalia attracted attention by not attending a presidential affair. Instead of attending the State of the Union address, Scalia explained to National Public Radio’s longtime Supreme Court reporter Nina Totenberg: “I haven’t gone for a long time. . . . It has become a very political, very political event. And I just don’t think it’s appropriate for justices to be there. . . . I think it’s turned into a rather silly, silly affair in which there are applause lines for one side, and that side of the house jumps up and cheers and then applauds, then the other side jumps up and cheers, and the Supreme Court justices always look at the chief justice to see whether he’s—whether he’s clapping or not, you know. . . . So I just think it’s a—has turned into a childish spectacle, and I do not think I want to be there to lend dignity to it.”9


Sensing an opening to raise the larger issue of objections to the Obama administration, Totenberg asked the justice to explain his decision to wear a replica of St. Thomas More’s hat to the president’s second inaugural. As he frequently did when faced with an uncomfortable question, Scalia went for a laugh while shifting the direction of the question, explaining that it was “a replica of the hat that you see Thomas More wearing in the famous Holbein portrait. . . . I would have thought it would have been recognized immediately, but apparently the press is . . . ignorant of both art and religion.”


Unwilling to be derailed, Totenberg pressed, using the language from the First Things blog to ask whether he had worn “the cap of a statesman who defended liberty of church and integrity of Christian conscience to the inauguration of a president whose policies have imperiled both?”


Scalia scoffed at the idea: “Oh, no, that—come on. . . . [I w]as not at all that subtle. . . . I’m not that—I like Thomas More. I wore his hat. He was Lord Chancellor of England. How can it be improper to wear that kind of a hat to a—to a legal event?”10


Whatever his intentions, Scalia had spent a lifetime being noticed—as the only child of learned parents, the valedictorian of his high school, one of the top students in his class at Georgetown University, a law review editor at Harvard Law School, the head of the Office of Legal Counsel for President Gerald R. Ford, a federal Court of Appeals judge for the District of Columbia Circuit, and one of the most brilliant, vocal, and controversial justices ever to serve on the U.S. Supreme Court.


But it was not just excelling in his work that satisfied Scalia’s ambitions. He possessed two traits that defined him at every stage of his life. One was his unwavering adherence to the traditional Roman Catholic faith he had learned from his Italian American parents during his childhood. Contrary to the Vatican II reforms to Catholic faith, Scalia remained true to the Latin Mass and conservative Catholic views of his parents. The other trait, he explained to PBS interviewer Charlie Rose, was, “I like to argue. It’s one reason I like the law, I think. I like to figure out where the truth lies between two—two different assertions. I don’t know. It’s just who I am.”11


It’s just who I am. Scalia’s revealing self-description of his love for arguing, and his unwavering steadfastness in doing so, could not have surprised those who knew him, for he had always been that way.


Throughout his early years, his intellectual talents, his charismatic personality, his unchanging nature, indeed, even his consummate ability to argue, together with all of the accomplishments that resulted from them, led him to the Supreme Court. But once he got there, those traits, combined with his need for attention, turned him from becoming the consensus builder so many observers had expected him to be on a court of nine into a court of one.





CHAPTER 1


Pride of the Scalias


The Scalia family of Trenton, New Jersey, produced just one heir, but Antonin Gregory Scalia would one day make his family’s name famous. He was born on March 11, 1936, to Salvatore Eugene and Catherine Panaro Scalia. Following Sicilian tradition, they named him in honor of his paternal grandfather, Antonino, and as he grew everyone called him “Nino.”1


The nine siblings in the Scalia and Panaro clans collectively produced only this one child, little Nino, who was treated by his aunts and uncles as special. The impact of that exalted status had a profound effect. “I was spoiled,” Scalia once said. “I had a very secure feeling. So many people who loved me and who would look out for me.”2 Being the center of attention for so many people shaped his ego.


Antonin’s father, Salvatore, was born on December 1, 1903, in Sommatino, Sicily. Salvatore’s father, Antonino, was a mechanic in Palermo; his mother, Maria Di Pietra Scalia, was only twenty years old when Salvatore was born.3 He was reasonably well educated in the Italian system and in his youth he became something of a radical socialist activist.4 Years later, by then a traditional, “deeply religious” Roman Catholic and cultural conservative, Salvatore enjoyed telling colleagues the story of how he and several other teenagers had organized a demonstration on behalf of a socialist cause one day only to be thrown in the town jail for a few hours.5 “Anyone who knew him in his mature years,” wrote Professor Joseph F. DeSimone of Brooklyn College, “could easily see how poorly the term ‘radical’ suited him.”6


At age seventeen, Salvatore stood just four foot, ten inches tall when he arrived at Ellis Island with his family just before Christmas of 1920. Like his parents and sister Carmela, he was recorded as reading and writing Italian (although he also knew French and Spanish)7, and was described by the immigration officer as having a “dark” complexion with brown hair and eyes. His “calling or occupation” was listed as “labour,” while his father’s was listed as a “meccanic.” With those skills and their life savings of $400, the Scalia family set forth to build a new life.8


Despite the description of the immigration officials, “Sam,” as Salvatore was first called by bureaucrats at Ellis Island and later by his friends, set his sights on using his intellectual gifts more than his physical talents.9 After learning the language and culture of his new country, Sam became an outstanding student at Rutgers University.


He fell in love with Catherine Panaro, a public school teacher two years his junior. Catherine was a first-generation Italian American from Trenton. After a suitably long courtship, they married in 1929. Three years later, in 1932, with his bachelor’s degree in hand, Sam matriculated as a graduate student in Romance Languages at Columbia University.10 His excellent work there marked him as a man with a future career in academia.


In 1936 they were blessed with their only child. During the first few years of young Antonin’s life, he and his parents lived with the Panaro family in a series of row houses in Ewing Township, New Jersey, in what they called “the family homestead.”11 Surrounded by extended family, young Nino had an aunt as a baby-sitter, a lawyer uncle who let him visit his law office, and a grandfather who taught him to shoot his prized L. C. Smith shotgun. He later remembered how he “would sit on the porch and aim at passing rabbits,” shooting the ones that were eating his vegetable garden.12


During this time, Scalia’s father established himself in the academic community. To complete his master’s degree in Romance Languages, Sam wrote an impressive thesis on nineteenth-century Italian poet and Nobel laureate Giosuè Carducci. Carducci was considered “the greatest Italian literary figure in the latter part of the nineteenth century.”13 Yet the translations of his work into English, Sam believed, were unfaithful to the text and style of the original. In his thesis, Sam retranslated Carducci for an American audience. The resulting work, Carducci: His Critics and Translators in England and America, 1881–1932, quickly found a publisher.14


It was in this volume that Sam, whose professional name became S. Eugene Scalia, first outlined his philosophy of “literalness.” He explained that an 1881 translation done by Francis Hueffer, a German music critic, “exhibit[ed] most of the mistaken criteria of aesthetic judgment” by writers who were translating Carducci’s work.15 S. Eugene’s facility with his new English language was evident in his summation of the errors made by Hueffer: “This introduction of Carducci to English readers [by Hueffer] is topped by the statement that he ‘is not a lyrical poet, and seldom touches the heart,’ which is not unlike saying that red is not a color and seldom ravishes the color-blind.”16


S. Eugene explained how his “literal” translation technique allowed him to reveal both the “lyricist” and “romantic” in Carducci. “A poem is a poem, not this plus that. It is begot, not built,” he argued. “A poet is not a cross between a lexicographer or encyclopedist and a metrician, hence the merit of his art cannot lie in the richness of his vocabulary or the vastness of his knowledge, nor in the variety of his meters. Words and meters he uses, but they form an integral part of his poem, just as body and soul are an integral part of man’s individuality and personality.”17 The trick, he argues, is in finding “a good translator” or one “who is a poet in his own right.” The task is to capture the meaning of the poet, in his own time, in his own geographical region, and observing the purpose of the poet: “[The translator’s] most eminent quality is the rare faculty of reproducing the lyric vision of a poet; he must always seek to transfer bodily the image from one language into another without sacrifice of glow or warmth, and not attempt to reconstruct it with dictionary in hand.”18 In other words, the images that the words convey to readers of the original poem should be conveyed to readers of the translation.19 For the elder Scalia, “The translator, far from being a literary hack, is a man of great poetic qualities,” meaning that for him a German music critic such as Hueffer was not qualified to translate the work.20


Scalia then went on to describe in more detail the literal philosophy that guided his translation. “Literalness is, for us, one of the chief merits of a translation. . . . Literalness, in a work which purports . . . to be a guide to Carducci’s verse, is essential. Otherwise the translator, instead of aiding, hinders the reader not sufficiently familiar with Italian.”21


Scalia’s Carducci soon gained him a seat in Columbia graduate school to study for his Ph.D. While he took his classes there, Scalia worked with Professor Giuseppe Prezzolini to amass a bibliography of Italian literature and literary criticism between 1902 and 1942. This book, Repertorio Bibliografico Della Storia e Della Critica Della Litteratura Italiana, was later published in four massive volumes and became a staple for scholars. For his dissertation, which is designed to make an original contribution to one’s academic field, Scalia produced an impressive biography of Luigi Capuana, a prominent Italian novelist of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Capuana was one of the most prominent leaders of the iconoclastic verist literary movement in Italy, which sought to replace classical approaches to the arts with a more contemporary approach. Once more, Scalia relied on his “literalness” approach to produce a work of excellent scholarship, carefully analyzing Capuana’s life and work in order to assess his importance in the field. “For my part,” Scalia argued at the end of his work, “I have spared no effort in this work to avoid going down the easy path of vacuous generalities and pointless idealities.”22 Once again, the dissertation was so good that it was published as a book in 1952. Those published works, together with the large number of articles on literary criticism and his excellent teaching, assured S. Eugene Scalia’s academic career.


In 1939, Scalia moved his family to a middle-class immigrant neighborhood in Elmhurst in the borough of Queens, New York, where they lived in a second-floor apartment.23 Unlike in Trenton, young Antonin now saw the world through the eyes of the wide variety of other immigrant families then trying to move into American society: “Queens in the neighborhood I grew up in was a fairly, very integrated community. I mean it wasn’t just an Italian neighborhood at all. It was Italian, Irish, Puerto Rican, [and] Germans. It was a wonderful sort of cosmopolitan, middle class, I guess lower-middle class community. I thoroughly enjoyed it.”24 Scalia would later say of his childhood world, “It was a really mish-mosh sort of a New York . . . cosmopolitan neighborhood.”25


Young Nino was very much a child of New York City. Years later, he would still recall with a shudder being in his room on the second floor “with the windows open, and you’d listen to the trolley going by and just lie there and sweat in the heat.”26 Neighbors would later recall of Scalia that he came from a “very generous family” and he “knew his place . . . we never had a word out of tune.”27


S. Eugene Scalia became a well-respected professor in the Italian division of the Department of Romance Languages at Brooklyn College.28 He was described by his office mate, Joseph DeSimone, as “an excellent teacher, severe yet fair, pleasant in his dealings with students and colleagues, and . . . well liked by both. He was always available outside of the classroom for advice to students.”29 Scalia was such a “dedicated teacher,” with a “strict sense of morality and decency,” his colleague recalled, that he almost never missed class, once having to walk for three or four hours from his home to his classroom in Brooklyn because a transit strike had shut down public transportation.30


Despite the success of an immigrant Italian who could not speak a word of English when he arrived in America, but who rose to become a college professor, the teaching responsibilities of his job failed to fulfill S. Eugene’s intellectual needs. His son remembered, “He taught these Romance languages in the day when you had to have a foreign language to graduate, and he was quite exasperated to have to teach to a class that didn’t really care. They didn’t—they didn’t have the intellectual curiosity or any real—most of them—any real desire to learn—learn the language. So, you know, he would teach to the few students there that really were interested.”31 But there was another disappointment for the elder Scalia when he failed to be named the chairman of the Romance Languages Department, which he believed was due to his immigrant status.32


Professor Scalia’s students never knew about his reservations and regrets. Rather, he became so respected and popular in his three decades of teaching that, after his retirement in 1969, the S. Eugene Scalia Memorial Library was established, consisting of more than nine hundred reference volumes, begun with the donation of his own personal library, and housed in the Center for Italian American Studies in Boylan Hall on the Brooklyn College campus.33


Late in his life, in 1980, he would coauthor a masterful translation of the autobiography of Philip Mazzei, a close friend of many of the American Founding Fathers, including Washington, Jefferson, and Madison. A Renaissance man and something of a cultural diplomat, Mazzei traveled the world and cross-pollinated the American and European continents with the ideas of the other.34 Through his literary translations and analyses, Professor Scalia had done the same.


But in those early years there was a price to be paid for the labor-intensive work required of a rising scholar to master his field. He could not spend as much time as he wished with his only son. Much later, Antonin Scalia would tell audiences that he had “a mother who was doting and a father who was stern.”35 Scalia has always been careful to say that he was not some poor son of an immigrant who had to “lif[t] myself up by my bootstraps.”36 To be sure, Professor Scalia was an immigrant, but his son made clear that the family’s life was not a prolonged economic struggle. “My father was very intellectual, a more intellectual man than I am,” Scalia would recall. “I mean, he always had a book in front of his face. He was always reading something in French, or Spanish, or Italian.”37 Besides the importance of scholarship, the elder Scalia always stressed ethics and honor, frequently telling his son, “Bear in mind that brains and learning, like muscle and physical skill, are articles of commerce. They are bought and sold. You can hire them by the year or by the hour. The only thing in the world not for sale is character.”38


Most of Antonin’s life lessons, however, came from his mother. “[My mother made] sure I did the right things, hung out with the right people, joined the right organizations . . . [and] associated with young people that would not get me into trouble, but rather would make me a better person,” he recalled. “She made it her job to know who I was hanging out with. We had them over to my house and she was a den mother for the Cub Scouts, things of that sort.”39 Eventually he would join the Boy Scouts and he attended Boy Scout camp every summer. His mother was the one who attended his softball games, not his father. In the end, Scalia concluded, it was his mother who had more influence over him: “She devoted a lot of attention to raising her son. . . . Certainly more than my father did overall.”40 All in all, Scalia admits that as the only child of his family he was “spoiled rotten,” but it was “a pretty normal childhood.”41


Since both Sam and Catherine Scalia loved music and the opera, they passed on to their only son their knowledge of, and affection for, high culture. Sam taught his son to play the piano until he was in junior high school, making sure that by that point he had become a very competent musician.42 Years later, Nino would rely on those lessons to entertain friends in the legal and political world at parties and gatherings. While they could not afford to take their son to the professional opera, Sam did take Nino to Brooklyn College’s productions. Years later, a smiling Justice Scalia would tell a New York Times reporter, “I loved ‘Gianni Schicchi,’ and I still love it.”43


Father and son would occasionally talk politics, but they agreed on nothing beyond the importance of American patriotism. Like many immigrant Italians of that era who were devoted to the new inclusiveness of Franklin Delano Roosevelt’s New Deal programs, both mother and father were staunch Democrats. But, like many children of intelligent parents, from the beginning, Antonin went the opposite way, becoming a dedicated conservative.44


Like his father before him, Scalia’s future would revolve around the world of competitive academia. He began by attending elementary and junior high school at P.S. 13, where he was a star student, missing very few days of class, never arriving late, and receiving all As every year. Bringing a report card with anything less to his father was unthinkable, so he never did. Being educated in the general population of the New York City public schools gave him a chance to interact with many other kinds of students. It was a “polyglot,” Scalia would later recall. “There were Greeks—one of the girls in the class was named Eurydice. We didn’t even know how to say it: we called her ‘you’re-a-dice.’ There were Irish, German, Jewish, Italian. . . . It was the face of New York.”45 Years later, looking at a photo from May 1947 showing him seated at his old school desk in the second row of Consuela Goin’s sixth-grade class, Scalia recalled that “my first crush was a girl in this class whose name was Theresa,” and “Hugh McGee was generally the class troublemaker. . . . He was a really smart student, but was always getting into trouble.”46 Late in his life, Scalia still had fond memories of his early education: “Great school, and I had a wonderful education. It was a diverse student body, terrific teachers. Every silver lining has a cloud. It was in the days when not very many jobs were open to women. For really bright women, your choices were to be a schoolteacher, or a secretary, or a nurse, and that was very unfair. But one of the consequences was that we had some wonderful, wonderful women as schoolteachers who today would be CEOs or something, or doing something different.”47


But it was not all work and no play for Scalia during his public school years: “I spent a lot of time in the schoolyard at Public School (P.S.) 13. The police used to cordon off streets—they were called play streets—and we used to play street hockey on roller skates with a regular hockey puck. There were a lot of vacant lots around in those days in Queens and Elmhurst, and we used to have campfires and camped out, if you can imagine that, in pup tents. We would go sled riding in a cemetery that was known as Dead Man’s Hill. It was pretty much devise your own amusement.”48


Beyond the academics and play life in P.S. 13, Scalia’s earliest memories of his public school education had to do with his experiences as a Catholic in those schools, which some in their faith complained was Protestant-oriented in its approach. Perhaps to help their young son better assimilate into the country, the Scalias chose not to start him in parochial school as many other devout Catholic families did.49 But in the 1950s, public schools had a “released time” program to allow Catholic students to leave the school during school hours on Wednesdays in order to receive religious training in the neighborhood church.50 “It was a good deal,” Scalia later told a religious group. “You got out early; the rest of the kids had to stay in school. You took your time getting there, you kicked cans in the gutters or what not.”51 But what he later appreciated, because of a decision by the Supreme Court in upholding the program, was the support that the Court showed for religion.52


•  •  •


Growing up in the conservative Roman Catholic tradition in a devoutly religious Italian immigrant family had a profound effect on young Antonin Scalia.53 Catholics, his father taught him, believed that they were “born” to the Catholic faith, which was viewed as “the Church.”54 The Church was a hierarchy, from the pope to his cardinals and bishops, then to the parish priest, and finally to the parishioners. The priest, who received the teachings and instructions of the Church from above, shepherded his parishioners, whom he guided and instructed in the ways of the Church. Young Scalia could see that the relationship of priest to parishioners was just like the relationship of his father to him.


“We grew up different,” writes Garry Wills, the Pulitzer Prize–winning author, who once entered the Jesuit order. Growing up as a young Catholic in that pre–Vatican II era, one experienced a world of obscure religious ceremony.55 One took comfort in the changelessness of those words and ceremonies, explains Wills, because they were “what always was . . . eternal, unchangeable, like the church” and there was “eternity in those Latin prayers.”56 There was no reason to know the history of the Church, because it never changed, Wills adds; “it was easier to pretend the church had no past, only an eternal present.”57 The fixed nature of the Catholic Church guided its followers to chart their lives.


For Catholics in America at that time, there was an emphasis on the power of words and an appreciation for the rhythm of religious phrases that had, in Wills’s words, “hypnotic power.” That “hypnotic power” extended to the Latin responses required of the congregation during Sunday Mass.58 Days of the week and frequent holy days had religious meaning, helping to organize one’s life. One did not eat meat on Fridays; on Saturdays, one confessed one’s sins to the priest; on Sundays, one attended Mass. Children came to recognize the passage of time by the changing colors of the vestments worn by the priests during religious holidays. Parents encouraged their sons to become altar boys. Having a priest or nun in the family was a source of pride.


Because of their religious identity, Wills explains, Catholic children came to see themselves as “a chosen people,” adding quickly that they were “chosen, it seemed, to be second rate.” They lived “outside time altogether,” observing “an unanchored, anachronistic style” and possessing a hidden “superior moral tone, obvious to us, concealed from others, a secret excellence, our last joke on the World.”59


This was the early life of Antonin Scalia. He came of age in the timeless changelessness of his church, while the clergy in his neighborhood and later the religious teachers in his high school battled against challenges to their views. Beyond the literalism of the Catholic faith, what also made an impression on a devoutly Catholic child like Antonin Scalia was the timeless source of the Church’s teachings. The Catholic religion at the time, says Father John W. O’Malley in his book What Happened at Vatican II, was based on the French notion of ressourcement, meaning “return to the sources.” Like Scalia’s father, who argued that fully understanding the subjects of his books and their literary works came only when one returned to the original sources and read them in a manner consonant with their times, the Catholic faith was governed by earlier religious texts in interpreting the Bible and understanding religious teachings. Explains Father O’Malley, “It entails a return to the sources with a view not to confirming the present but to making changes in it to conform it to a more authentic or more appropriate past, to what advocates of ressourcement considered a more profound tradition.”60


•  •  •


In order to give him a proper Catholic training, Scalia’s parents took him out of the public school system in high school. It was here that Scalia suffered one of the very few failures in his early life. Seeking a top-flight parochial education, he took the entrance exam for the elite Jesuit-run Regis High School, on the Upper East Side of Manhattan, where every student attends on scholarship. However, for reasons that he could not later explain, Scalia failed the exam.61


In a pattern that would be repeated throughout Scalia’s life, though, this failure became only a temporary setback leading to what was, for him, a better opportunity. He won a full scholarship to another Jesuit prep school called Xavier High School, named for the Jesuit missionary St. Francis Xavier, and located on West 16th Street, near Union Square.62 There he could stand out in ways he might not have at Regis. Every day, he rode the subway from his home in Queens to Xavier, whose motto, like that of the Jesuits, is Ad Maiorem Dei Gloriam, “for the greater glory of God.” Xavier was both a Jesuit school, teaching both “loving” discipline and devout Catholicism, and a military prep school.63 The students, most of whom came from working-class families, all became part of the Xavier High School regiment of the Junior Reserve Officers’ Training Corps. They wore military-style uniforms, and saluted both senior classmen and faculty members. Students attended Mass at the adjacent church and were known as “Sons of Xavier.” The school’s mission stressing leadership skills was so strong that it became, in the words of one of its graduates, “the place where boys were made men and where men were made leaders.”64


It was there that the only child of the Scalia and Panaro families would be taught how to lead and inspire others by his example. The school was as strict and severe as Antonin’s father. Any violation of the school’s lengthy list of conduct rules would result in detention, or JUG—“Judgment Under God.” Unlike public school, though, where such punishment would consist of sitting quietly in detention after school, at Xavier students were sent to the quadrangle between the school and the adjoining Church of St. Francis Xavier shouldering a fifteen-pound rifle and spent the afternoon following school marching the four sides of the inner square using perfect military 90-degree corners, never allowing the elbow supporting the weapon to drop.65


Scalia, though, was not one to worry about the harshness of such rules, because he never broke them. Instead, he studied constantly and participated in every activity available to him. As a member of the school’s junior varsity rifle team, Scalia and his classmates competed in shooting competitions against West Point plebes.66 Years later, Scalia liked to recall how he and his fellow students rode the subway from Queens to Manhattan carrying their .22 carbine rifles so that they could shoot in the school’s basement rifle range and drill at the armory on 14th Street in order to compete for the junior ROTC rifle and drill teams. “I grew up at a time when people were not afraid of people with firearms. Could you imagine doing that today?” Scalia asked various audiences in a post-9/11 world.67


Xavier students received, recalled one of Scalia’s classmates, a “very, very classical education” consisting of training in languages, including three years of Greek, reading Homer, and four years of Latin, where they read classics such as Caesar’s Gallic Wars, Cicero’s Orations, and Virgil’s Aeneid, together with intensive training in analyzing English literature and learning to write.68 Former classmate William Stern recalls, “There was no time for girl friends at Xavier. You were expected to do three or four hours of homework a night and if you were involved in activities, you went to school, came home, studied, and went to bed.”69


Years later, though, Justice Scalia repeatedly told audiences one tale illustrating the impact that this rigorous academic training had on him:


One of the things I learned there I call the Shakespeare Principle, which I think applies to the Court’s ignoring our traditions and making up its own notion. . . . The Shakespeare Principle was explained to me by an elderly and quite crusty Jesuit in a class where we were studying Shakespeare. One of my classmates, I remember his name for some reason, John Antonelli, he was a real wise guy. He interjected the comment, some critical comment about the play we were reading, I don’t remember which one we were reading, Hamlet or whatever. It was a sophomoric stupid thing. Father Tom Matthews looked down at him, and said with his Boston accent, “Mister, when you read Shakespeare, Shakespeare’s not on trial—YOU ARE!” I have always thought that’s a very good prescription for life.70


From the moment he stepped into Xavier, everyone could see that Antonin Scalia would be a success. Good grades could have come easily to a boy of Scalia’s intelligence, but that suited neither his temperament nor what his father would permit. “I was a greasy grind. I studied real hard,” he liked to tell audiences. “I worked really hard. My father, my mother put me to that. And I—well, I enjoyed that. I don’t like doing anything badly.”71 He was first in his class every year, receiving As in every class.72 The school newspaper, Xavier Review, wrote of him in his senior year, in its “Presenting” column, which featured the finest students: “The honor cord about his shoulder is with him a permanent mark of distinction. For the past three years he has compiled one of the most enviable records at Xavier. To date 19 First Honor awards, one for each marking period, have been won by him. Needless to say, he has also received each year the Gold Medal for class excellence.”73 Classmate William Stern later recalled, “People just competed for second, he was so superior academically.”74 With no grade on his transcript below a 90, Scalia’s faculty adviser described him as “The gold medal winner. A very outstanding boy. By far the best in his class in every way.”75


Beyond just academics, Scalia was a member of as many extracurricular activities as he could fit into his busy schedule, so many in fact that the school’s yearbook looked like his own personal photo album. In each group, he rose to a position of leadership. He played the French horn, and he was made the commander of the school band. He rose to become one of the five lieutenant colonels in the elite Xavier Regiment, often marching in parades in Manhattan streets.76 He loved what those marches showed him about his city. Years later he would recall for CBS’s Lesley Stahl the difference he noticed when his school’s band went to play in Washington, D.C.: “These people just stood there and looked at us, you know? In New York, people say, ‘Hey, play something for us, you know? You bums, why don’t you play something?’ They were—they were alive, they were confrontational.”77 Scalia loved his early life in New York City, and could see later how it had helped to shape his personality. “It was a wonderful place. You had the subway; the world was your oyster. There was just enough responsibility that was put on young people that any New Yorker would acquire a certain cockiness.”78


Scalia discovered that he was a born theatrical performer and public speaker. He became president of the dramatic society and starred in various school plays, even taking the lead in Macbeth, an effort that won praise from the school yearbook as “display[ing] extraordinary ability.” It was “probably the most significant thing I’ve done in my life,” Scalia, as a Supreme Court justice, later told a group of honors students from Virginia. “You know how many lines there are in Macbeth?”79 Unlike other actors who were concerned only with themselves, classmates saw that the student they held in such awe academically could also be a good and supportive friend. Upon seeing that one of the cast members in the all-male group, John Gallagher, was upset at being teased by his classmates for having to wear a dress to play Lady Macbeth, Scalia pulled him aside and said: “Look, I know you’re going through a tough time, but don’t let them see it’s bothering you—they’ll just do it more. And think of the part; it’s really a masculine part because she’s so domineering.”80 An appreciative Gallagher later recalled, he “took me under his wing, and counseled me not to feel badly. He was very kind-hearted and low key, a special young man.”81


Scalia also learned that he had a natural talent for debate, an intellectually competitive activity that is taken very seriously at Jesuit educational institutions. Rising to the top of that group with his quick intelligence and mastery of the language, he enjoyed the chance to display his argumentative skills against his fellow students and those at other schools.82 But Scalia always relished more the opportunity to perform for the general public. As a junior, he represented his school as a panel member on a Sunday television show filmed in New York City called Mind Your Manners. The teenage panelists were questioned about the etiquette for certain events in their lives, such as going on dates. Young Scalia’s skill in answering the questions was such that his school newspaper reported, “His keen, sensible answers, well seasoned with a bit of humor, stole the show again and again.”83 Years later, Scalia would remember his participation in this show with great fondness: “Oh, it was great. We would—I would go from Queens, where I lived, take the subway on—the show was Sunday morning. Saturday night we’d go—they would put us up at the Algonquin Hotel, which was a—which was a, you know, theatrical kind of hotel. We stayed there in the night, and they’d slip us 50 bucks too. I’m not sure they were supposed to, but anyway, it was—it was wonderful. Really enjoyed it.”84


Early in his senior year, in October 1952, he was selected to be one of three boys on a six-student debate panel from around the city for a New York Times debate forum on the issue “Will a Democratic Victory Secure Our Future?,” which was broadcast on both television and radio. While the plan was to have three girls represent the Democrats and the boys the Republicans, the debate evolved into a policy discussion with the girls arguing that “the average man” had benefited from the Democrats’ domestic programs, while the boys countered with the argument that the Democrats’ foreign policy had lost much of the world to communism. Not surprisingly, the judge, Democrat Averell Harriman, voted for the girls’ position, but likely had this same debate taken place the following week, when former Republican presidential candidate Thomas Dewey was the judge, Scalia and his team would have won with the same arguments.85 Proving how well he was liked by his classmates, Scalia was voted the treasurer of the Senior Sodality group, a religious organization devoted to the Blessed Virgin, which “conduct[ed] spiritual and apostolic projects” as well as the school’s three “elaborate dances.”86


As his years progressed at Xavier, Scalia’s classmates could see that he was more than just a political conservative, he was also a very conservative Catholic. Classmate Stern recalled, “This kid was a conservative when he was 17 years old. An archconservative Catholic. He could have been a member of the [Catholic] Curia,” the governing officials in the Vatican.87 The school newspaper wrote of his religious dedication: “It might be said that the fine Catholic education given him by his parents and the continuation of that education by his teachers at Xavier gave [Scalia] the foundation of his beliefs and the means to win graces to keep him continually strong in his Faith. Antonin in short has been leading among us a full Catholic life and we know him as a man who can truly be called an ‘exemplary Catholic.’ ”88


No one was surprised when Scalia was named valedictorian in the class of 1953. Later he would be described by a school publication, “National Leadership,” as “one of the best students ever to attend Xavier.”89 With such a record of success, and accustomed to being close to home, Scalia thought seriously of getting an Ivy League education.


Princeton was the school he set his sights on, and learned for the first time that there might be something in his background that could hold him back. When this proud son of an intellectual Italian immigrant and a first-generation Italian American schoolteacher went to his admissions interview for Princeton, he did not feel welcome. Asked years later whether his Italian heritage ever caused him to feel any “injustice,” Scalia said: “Only once did I feel that I couldn’t make the grade because of my Italian background. And that was when I interviewed to get into Princeton and I sort of felt, Princeton was still a very, what we used to call a ‘white shoe place’ in those days and I sort of felt the interviewers, who were alumni of Princeton, sort of felt that this kid was not the Princeton sort.”90


As it turned out, the elitist Ivy League interviewers did Scalia a favor. Guided by the Jesuits at Xavier High School, Scalia decided to attend Georgetown, the elite Catholic school in America’s political power center. Once more his brilliance won him another full tuition scholarship.91 And so, while his parents moved to a house in Ewing Township near Trenton to live close to the Panaro family homestead, young Antonin journeyed to Georgetown, where he would discover his mission, both spiritual and vocational.92





CHAPTER 2


The Chosen Few


In late summer of 1953, Nino Scalia bid farewell to his parents and the ethnic diversity of his Queens neighborhood and traveled to the manicured streets of the Georgetown section of Washington, D.C. He carried with him his love of learning and of family, devoutly conservative Catholic beliefs, and strong sense of patriotism. What he would learn in his new school and do in the coming four years would influence his philosophy and behavior for the rest of his life.


For a young man imbued with the conservative, text-oriented Catholicism of his father, Georgetown University, “an American, Catholic, Jesuit Institution of higher learning,” seemed a good fit.1 The school dated back to either 1788 or 1789, depending on whose history one read, and housed seven magnificent chapels with sixteen altars, where one could pray. Daily Mass was celebrated in the 1950s, compulsory classes in the Catholic faith were taught, and Catholic students were required to “attend all the religious exercises of the college,” “approach the Sacraments” at least once a month, and go on a three-day religious retreat at the beginning of the school year.2 Like his high school in Manhattan, Georgetown was a school steeped in the Jesuit educational tradition. He would learn that the mission of the Jesuits was a three-legged stool consisting of “intellectualism, scholarship, and activism.”3


While many of the students, like Scalia, were conservative Catholics, they found that their Jesuit professors often followed a different path. In the mid-1950s, the only Catholics who veered away from the timelessness of their religion were the intellectuals, most of whom could be found in the nation’s Jesuit colleges and universities. Students at Jesuit colleges of that era were struck by the contradiction between the strict, inward-looking, church of their upbringing and the missionary intellectualism of their college education, which preached the need to look beyond their religion to participate in service to mankind.4 The unchanging, rigid teachings of the American Catholic Church were also being challenged by a more liberal, and critical, worldview coming from Europe, where many of these Jesuits had been educated and had served.


As for many other Catholic college students in the 1950s, the challenge for Scalia was how to resolve his traditional religious views with the more liberal, activist views of his Jesuit college teachers. This emerging liberal philosophy did not please the Vatican. In 1957, Egidio Vagnozzi, the apostolic delegate sent by the Vatican to observe the American Church, condemned the “false aestheticism” and “cult of intellect” he observed.5


Scalia joined the History and Government Department, which in his second semester would split into two distinct departments. Scalia stayed in the History Department6 under the leadership of Hungarian Tibor Kerekes. Kerekes, who lost an arm in World War I, was a former tutor for the Hapsburg imperial family and an expert in modern European history.7 Despite the split with the Government Department, some History Department courses still had a distinctly political focus. The initial twenty-five course offerings in the department expanded to forty-four. They were wide-ranging, from histories of Greece, Rome, Europe, Russia, the Middle East, and America to English and American constitutional history and American foreign policy. Yet another set of courses investigated the history of the Catholic Church, and “Church and State.”8 The rest of the required curriculum at Georgetown was traditional, with required courses in English composition and literature, foreign languages, mathematics, and science.9 Fellow Georgetown graduate and friend Richard Coleman says that Scalia “had a European education—a classical education.” Coleman thinks “Scalia’s training, which included six years of Latin and five years of Greek, gave him ‘a long-range viewpoint,’ one that allows him to see contemporary issues in a far-reaching historical and philosophical context.”10


•  •  •


Loving a good argument, Scalia gravitated toward the Philodemic Society, the oldest collegiate debating society in the country.11 The Philodemic Society became Scalia’s new intellectual home, and college debate shaped who he later became. The goal of this society was to produce students with a “faculty for thinking clearly and speaking effectively.” Over the decades, the Philodemic Society produced influential alumni such as Supreme Court Chief Justice Edward Douglass White and one of the nation’s most prominent attorneys of the late nineteenth century, Richard T. Merrick. The society became a national powerhouse beginning in 1911 under the direction of Father John J. Toohey. The debaters from that team were so skilled that for an eighteen-year period in the 1920s and 1930s, they never lost a single debate.12


Scalia competed in policy debate, where two-person teams argue about the same broad public policy topic for an entire year, alternately taking the affirmative side, supporting the proposition and proposing a policy to address it, and the negative side, disagreeing with the proposition and critiquing the affirmative plan. Each speaker gives a ten-minute opening “constructive” speech, beginning with the affirmative plan to solve the issue, and then each speaker offers a five-minute rebuttal, ending with an affirmative side speaker summarizing the issues. Since each team might have its unique approach to the topic, a successful debater must be able to adapt quickly to new arguments. Indeed, the better teams, like Georgetown, brought several proposals to tournaments, adjusting their strategy according to the teams they faced. Judges decided the winning team, and ranked the four speakers in the round.13


College debaters become a special breed, developing a verbally aggressive, almost narcissistically arrogant personality that helps them survive intellectual battles. To the outside world debaters frequently appeared to be nerdy, intellectually analytical individuals. But to win they had to be highly disciplined and rigorously organized intellectuals who could turn their verbal attack 180 degrees, if need be, to win a point. Debaters are often abrasive, caustic, even at times mean, calling each other by their last names and looking for the perfect insult to weaken their opponents. Done properly, these critical comments might bring a laugh from the judge (often a former debater who appreciates such attacks). The point is not to anger the target of the attack. In the debate world, arguments were not personal; what mattered was who had the unanswerable argument and was able to score points. Success required four skills: a razor-sharp wit to cut through arguments under great pressure, a sharper tongue to deliver penetrating and concise attacks, an unflappable nature to deal with a barrage of attacks, and the ability to organize and deliver swift persuasive extemporaneous orations.


This became the new intellectual world, and persona, of Nino Scalia. He both reveled and excelled in it. His time in the Philodemic Society rewarded him for the ego-centered argumentation skills that he brought with him to Georgetown, and for honing those skills into a dominating and confident personality.


Beyond the historical tradition of the Philodemic Society, the Georgetown team had some advantages over other schools. First, the sheer size of the team, roughly 160 students, allowed it to gather more evidence, participate in more competitions, and share the workload preparing for the cases and arguments they would see on the circuit. The research process proceeded by bringing government officials and experts to the Philodemic Room to explain the nuances of policy topics dealing with economic and foreign policy issues. Finally, there was a nearly unlimited pool of new, skilled policy debaters coming to Georgetown each year from the network of Jesuit high schools, like Xavier. So skilled were Georgetown’s teams, and so respected and feared were its debaters, that others on the national circuit considered it an accomplishment to beat any of their teams.14


The topic for 1953, “Resolved: That the United States should adopt a policy of free trade,” could well have posed problems for a history major not well versed in economics. But it did not seem to bother Scalia in the least. In the annual intramural competition between his freshman Gaston team and the sophomore White team, Scalia debated so skillfully that he won the Edward Douglass White Memorial Medal, awarded to the best debater in the tournament. And in an extraordinary recognition of his talent, Scalia was elected president of the White Debating Society for his sophomore year.15


But Scalia had a rival for leading young debater. One of his classmates, Peter G. Schmidt from New Rochelle, New York, came from a more upscale background.16 Schmidt was also the son of a college professor, but unlike Salvatore Eugene Scalia, an immigrant who taught Romance languages at Brooklyn College, Godfrey Schmidt taught labor and malpractice law at Fordham University, and represented among others the New York Catholic leader, Francis Cardinal Spellman.17 Schmidt attended the Fordham Preparatory School on Fordham University’s campus in the Bronx, won the New York State debate championship, and placed third in the nation in 1953. Owing to these accomplishments, Schmidt was offered a full debate scholarship to Georgetown.18 Beyond his commanding, stentorian voice, argumentative brilliance, highly persuasive oratorical skills, and ability to think creatively, on a personal level Schmidt was so charming and funny that he was later described by one journalist as having a “roguish panache” that enabled him to become everyone’s best friend. Everyone, that is, except for the student who was competing with him for the star position on the Georgetown debating team, Scalia. “There was an aura about him,” said one of Schmidt’s business associates years later. “He made everyone feel you were his closest friend. Peter had 50 ‘closest friends.’ ”19


It surprised no one when the talented and likable Schmidt was elected the president of the Gaston Debating Society for his freshman year, was chosen for a special individual debate against the Georgetown School of Foreign Service, and won the contest.20 By the fall of 1954 the varsity team was able to hire a full-time debate coach, John Fitzmaurice. With the school’s resources at a premium, Fitzmaurice decided to institute a “star” system, allocating travel funds for only twelve elite debaters from among the many hopefuls. Normally, that would mean that the juniors and seniors in the Philodemic Society would get the travel funds, with the sophomores in the White Society and the freshmen in the Gaston Society left to participate in intramural debates on campus.21


But the new debate coach had no favorites, and in this new meritocracy, the most skillful, not necessarily the most senior, competitors would be funded to carry the school’s banner to national tournaments. For Coach Fitzmaurice, Nino Scalia and his new partner, Peter Schmidt, were too good to ignore. So the promising young team of “Scalia and Schmidt” was born. This team of first-term sophomores quickly established itself as one of the top debate teams in the country. The topic that year was much easier for the history major with an interest in political science, “Resolved: That the United States should extend diplomatic recognition to the communist government of China.” Arguing in a practice tournament in Vermont for the affirmative position, certainly not the conservative Scalia’s personal view, he and Schmidt were remarkably successful.22 By the end of the term the Philodemic Society had won over 80 percent of its debates, with the college newspaper reporting that “Nino Scalia and Pete Schmidt head the Philodemic record.”23


In recognition of this fact, Scalia and Schmidt were sent to the prestigious Hall of Fame Tournament at New York University. This was, in the words of the team’s annual report, “one of the nation’s truly important debating events.”24 The Georgetown team tied with two other schools for the top honors. With no final round, it was left to a totaling of the individual speaker points awarded to each competitor after each round to break the tie. Georgetown won. The Philodemic Society had its best start in years.25


Debate was not the only extracurricular activity for Scalia. While “Nino” Scalia was making his reputation in debate, a different Scalia also became very well known to the campus as an actor in the college acting troupe, the Mask and Bauble. Georgetown students became aware of Scalia, billed under the name “Tony,” because of his sterling performance as Max Levene, a boxing manager in Heaven Can Wait.26 Scalia had two personas in the campus press. As “Nino,” the championship Philodemic Society debater, he was ruthlessly competitive and argumentative, interested only in winning, while as “Tony,” in the Mask and Bauble, he was witty, charming, and entertaining, seeking applause and approval.


Owing to his impressive performances and friendly personality in the school’s dramatic society, Scalia was elected the president of the Mask and Bauble club in the middle of his sophomore year. His most important duty was to supervise the preparation for the club’s entry into the Jesuit One-Act Play Contest, which was to be held on the Georgetown campus. The Mask and Bauble decided to perform Stephen Vincent Benet’s “The Devil and Daniel Webster.” Scalia’s performance as “The Fiddler” in the play helped the Mask and Bauble take second place in the competition to Loyola of Baltimore.27


Between obligations for the debate team and the acting club on top of his heavy load of classwork, Scalia had much to do. “These extracurricular activities, plus my studies, left me with little time for anything else,” recalled Scalia of those years.28 But during his third year at college, Scalia took a dramatic break for a year of study abroad. He attended a Georgetown program at the Swiss Jesuit University of Fribourg—a program that had just become available to Georgetown students in 1954.29


The sixteen students in Scalia’s group, including his debate partner, Peter Schmidt, took courses taught almost entirely in French at the bilingual French/German school. Beyond the courses, though, this program gave the product of Queens, New York, the opportunity to see Spain, Portugal, and Gibraltar on the Italian ocean liner Conte Biancamano on the way there, and to tour the historic sights of Europe during breaks, with bus trips to Rome, Venice, Genoa, Palermo, and Naples and train trips throughout Europe.30 He toured Spain for Christmas vacation, Austria for Easter vacation, and traveled up the Rhine after school ended. At the end of their year, they toured England before boarding their ship back home. Perhaps the highlight for all of the students was their two general audiences with Pope Pius XII.31


Scalia and Schmidt returned for their senior year to find a new coach at the helm of the Philodemic Society, Father J. William Hunt. The two debaters began the year as part of a four-man team, this time with Schmidt working with another student for the affirmative and Scalia and his new partner working on the negative. They bested forty-four other schools to garner an undefeated record and once again win New York University’s top-flight Hall of Fame Tournament. Scalia and his four-man team were the best collegiate debating team in the nation that fall, winning thirty-six of their forty debates and two other tournaments that semester.32


Everything was going well for the team during the second semester, when disaster struck. With Georgetown’s annual Cherry Blossom tournament approaching, the University Administration changed the date of the capstone oral examinations for the seniors, advancing them by a full five weeks, in order to allow more time for students to prepare for the required written comprehensive exams in each academic department. This change left only a couple of weeks for the seniors on the debate team to prepare for the “graduate-or-not” exams.33 Both Scalia and Schmidt felt compelled to drop out of the Cherry Blossom tournament, leaving a much less experienced, freshman team to compete, and ultimately fail, in their place.


With the full resources of the school and the team behind him, Scalia and Schmidt had helped to bring Georgetown debate back to national prominence. However, Father Hunt’s “star system” in backing his top team had left the school almost bereft of experienced debaters for the following year. And the team paid a price for that decision, winning no tournaments and significantly fewer debates.34


More than fifty years later Scalia would tell television interviewer Tim Russert how little he remembered of his debate experience: “The only advice I remember from my debate coach when I was in college, he taught me to button my jacket. It’s the only thing I took away from it—button your jacket.”35 It was hardly true. His absolute certainty in the merits of his positions, his love of attention, the abrasiveness of his attacks against opponents, his magnetic speaking persona, and more than all of that, his sheer love of winning, are all hallmarks of his background as a championship collegiate debater. By combining this legacy with the influence of the school’s evangelistic Jesuit Catholicism with his traditionalist Catholic upbringing, these four years helped shape Antonin Gregory Scalia.


•  •  •


Scalia’s college journey ended, along with that for Georgetown’s class of 1957, just before 8:30 P.M. on June 9. The class gathered in a driving rainstorm on that night before graduation for the annual Tropaia Awards ceremony in the Healy Quadrangle, a basketball-floor-sized, parquet-brick outdoor courtyard bordered by a rectangle of the school’s oldest buildings. They were there to see a short class play, hear the class poem, and listen to the university president, but mostly to hear the class’s most decorated student, Antonin Gregory Scalia. He had been selected to give the Cohonguroton Address, regarded as the school’s valedictory speech, although it was not always given by the student with the highest four-year grade-point average. No one questioned the selection of Scalia after all that he had accomplished at Georgetown.


Scalia had drawn the theme for his speech from the lesson he learned at Georgetown during that spring’s senior class final oral exams. After easily acing all the early questions from the panel of three faculty members, Scalia later told journalist and biographer Joan Biskupic, one of the professors closed with: “Very good, Mr. Scalia. I have one last question. If you look back over all the history that you’ve studied here over the last four years, if you had to pick one event that you thought was the most significant, what would it be?” Whatever it was that Scalia offered, the professor shook his head and said, “No, Mr. Scalia. The Incarnation, Mr. Scalia.” From this exchange, Scalia explained: “It was the last lesson I learned at Georgetown: not to separate your religious life from your intellectual life. They’re not separate.” Scalia took that advice to heart. And in his Cohonguroton Address he imparted that advice to his classmates.36


In his speech Scalia told his fellow graduates that their future mission was quite simple: “If we will not be leaders of a real, a true, a Catholic intellectual life, no one will! We cannot shift responsibility to some vague ‘chosen few.’ We are the chosen few. The responsibility rests upon all of us, whatever our future professions. . . . It is our task to carry and advance into all sections of our society this distinctively human life, of reason learned and faith believed.” Failure to fulfill this mission, he argued, would mean that they had “betrayed ourselves, our society, our race.” And, Scalia made clear, the beacon guiding them should be their Catholic faith: “If we really love the truth, we will believe that we have been shown a marvelous pathway, that we must brace ourselves at once to follow it, that life will not be worth living if we do otherwise! The prize is great. The risk is glorious.”37 It was a magnificently eloquent speech. Only twelve minutes in length, it was much shorter than usual, but it made a powerful impact on Scalia’s fellow students. Months afterward, the college newspaper, The Hoya, was still writing about it, describing it as being “widely acclaimed” and “an extremely easily read and meaningful speech.”38


The life mission Scalia laid out for his classmates could not have been clearer. His four years at Georgetown had led him far beyond the individualistic, conservative faith of his father and mother, and layered over it the activism and public service mission of the Jesuits. Scalia in turn charged his classmates to become lay leaders for Christ and lay representatives for their Catholic faith. He, and Scalia hoped they, would spread “the truth” as they understood it, the tenets of their Catholic faith, throughout America.


Decades later, when Scalia was nominated for the Supreme Court, some members of the national press searched for copies of the speech in the university archives only to find that unlike the other Cohonguroton speech and graduation files that were filled with drafts of speeches and other material, the Scalia speech files were empty.39 But a copy of the text survived because it had been reproduced in The Journal, the school’s literary magazine, and remained available on the bookshelves of the college’s Lauinger Library.40


Scalia never forgot what Georgetown University had done for him, and done to him. In 2002, he returned to his alma mater for its annual weeklong religious celebration to sum up what the school had meant to his personal and intellectual development. In a speech to the undergraduates, Scalia said that “protecting one’s Catholic identity” was a key part of what he had learned at the school. Reflecting on the national movement toward nondenominational education in major colleges and universities, Scalia told the group that the movement to separate religion from American public life and government had been “distorted by social beliefs.” It was clear to the audience that this was a movement that Scalia was prepared to resist, partly because of what he had learned at Georgetown. “I would be a different person if not for my years here,” Scalia concluded.41


•  •  •


At twenty-one years old and graduating from college, Scalia had to choose a career path to fulfill the religious mission that he set for himself and his classmates. He “gave some thought” to the idea of becoming a priest, but then rejected it because “I . . . decided He was not calling me.”42 He considered also becoming a college professor like his father. But Scalia recalled his father’s dissatisfaction with unmotivated students and the administrators who had blocked his career path. His father counseled that if he had a chance to do it all over again and had had other career options, he would have gone in a different direction. The advice had a considerable impact on his son: “I remember him saying to me . . . he wouldn’t want me to be an undergraduate professor. I ended up being a professor at graduate [law] school, where you do have people who [want to be there learning].”43


Scalia acted, he told a group of high school students years later, according to the French phrase “pour l’absence de n’importe quoi mieux,” or “for the absence of anything better.”44 As he recalled: “when I got out of college, I didn’t have the slightest idea of what I wanted to do with my life. And in those days, if you were going to go to graduate school, unlike today, you did it right away. You went right from college to graduate school. You didn’t take off a couple of years to work somewhere to learn who you were. You were considered a goof-off if you did that.” So, wondering where to turn at this pivotal moment in his life, Scalia turned to one of his accomplished relatives. “I had an Uncle Vince. Okay, most Italians have an Uncle Vince. . . . Vince was a lawyer and I used to visit his law offices in downtown Trenton now and then. He seemed to have a good life, so I thought I’d give it a shot. As it turned out, it was what I loved.” But the idea of becoming a Supreme Court justice, the first Italian one at that, never once crossed his mind in those early days.45


In deciding where to attend law school, though, despite his disappointment in applying to Princeton, Scalia sought the best law school he could find to test whether his intellect and skills would allow him to compete and succeed against the best in the country. As he put it years later:


Well, you want to get into the best law school you can, and generally speaking, [Harvard] is the most prestigious law school. Some of them I would pass, but they generally will have the best professors and the professors teach themselves rather than the law. The law is just like chewing gum. It’s what they use to develop your mental jaws, and you spit it out because the law will probably change by the time you’re in practice for 20 years. It’s important to have good teachers. Now some law schools are better teaching law schools than others, and the best thing to get is a school that both has very intelligent professors and professors who place a premium on teaching.46


He decided to apply to Harvard Law, and was accepted. Meanwhile, Scalia’s longtime debate partner, Peter Schmidt, had won the prestigious Elihu Root–Samuel J. Tilden Scholarship underwriting three years of study at the New York University School of Law.47 While Scalia had won no such scholarship, he had earned the right to learn from, and compete against, some of the best legal minds in the country. It was a challenge he would relish facing.


But Scalia’s and Schmidt’s lives would follow different paths after law school. Just sixteen months after Antonin Scalia took his seat on the United States Supreme Court, Peter Schmidt, then a prominent Park Avenue attorney, entrepreneur, and financial adviser, became an international fugitive. On February 29, 1989, he boarded a plane in Miami and vanished, leaving behind a trail of broken promises, forged documents, and missing funds.48 Scalia’s decision to attend Harvard Law School proved to be a very wise choice and set him on a very different path. Langdell Hall was filled not only with many of the best law teachers in the country in the latter part of the 1950s, but because of the fault lines of American Constitutional law at the time, it was also the epicenter of the legal universe. In a legal world dominated on the United States Supreme Court by the battles between former Harvard Law professor Felix Frankfurter on the conservative side, and former Yale Law professor William O. Douglas, as well as former U.S. Senator Hugo Black, on the left, it was the perfect place to study law.





CHAPTER 3


The Harvard Hit Parade of the 1950s


Students in the audience for the opening day of Harvard Law School in mid-September 1957 quickly realized when Dean Erwin Griswold rose to speak that they were in a new academic world. The class, consisting of about five hundred students, including twelve women, was told, “We have no glee clubs here. This is hard work. I know you are all high-achieving students, and you are used to being at the top of your class. But I want to tell you everybody here was at the top of their class. We have 300 Phi Beta Kappas in this class, 200 Magna Cum Laudes, and 100 Summa Cum Laudes. We have a Doctorate in Philosophy from Budapest and a Doctorate in Economics from Oxford. And . . .” Griswold said after a short pause, “we also have Miss Apple Dessert Queen from Virginia.” The men in the audience “hoot[ed] and whistl[ed] and cheer[ed],” scanning the room for a beauty queen, while Zona F. Hostetler, a distinguished graduate from the College of William and Mary who would go on to become a highly respected advocate for civil rights and the rights of the poor, sank in her chair. “I was the Apple Dessert Queen of Virginia all right,” Hostetler later recalled, “but it was a 4-H title, not a beauty queen title.” It would be years later before she would learn that her two recommending professors had put that tidbit in their letters because, they told her, “We were afraid you wouldn’t get in and so we figured we better spice up your record.”1


Scalia, who later described himself as a “greasy grind” student in those days, fit in well. The buttoned-down students always wore suit jackets and ties and worked constantly, developing a disciplined approach to the study of law. Frank Michelman, a law review editor with Scalia who later taught at Harvard, recalled that law students at that time were “very much anchored in the fifties,” taking “the attitude that there was truth, and method, and enlightenment to be gathered from this educational experience.” Fellow classmate Daniel Mayers, later a Washington corporate attorney, explained that Harvard Law students at the time “were a very traditionalist group of people. Many of us had done two years of military service before going to graduate school.”2


Harvard Law students, who were divided into four sections of about 125, were very much individual scholars, sometimes banding together in study groups. “In those days, you really didn’t know your professors outside of the classroom, and the classes were large,” Zona Hostetler later recalled.3 All first-year students took the same classes: Agency, Civil Procedure, Contracts, Criminal Law, Property I, Torts, and a “Group Work” session of sixteen or seventeen students, led by teaching fellows, to consider legal problems applying the theory they had learned to real-world situations.4 In the second year, students took Administrative Law, Commercial Law, Corporations, Taxation, Trusts, Accounting, Constitutional Law, and a course exploring the links between law and such subjects as legal philosophy, history, legislation, international organization, and comparative law in order to provide more context for their case work.5 For their third year, students were left to choose from a series of electives as well as one of the third-year legal seminars in which students would concentrate on one field of law and apply all that they had learned toward solving some of the major problems in that area of study.6


Classes were “a fearsome thing,” recalls Scalia classmate Charles Tighe. This was the era of the Socratic “case method,” in which students were assigned heavy reading loads and professors called on individual students to stand and answer a series of increasingly difficult legal hypothetical questions, applying the reading assignments to other cases and situations. “There was a lot of interchange,” recalled Tighe of those classes. “The professor would expect you to be prepared. Every single one of the people in the class were expected to be prepared on the cases they had to read the previous night. They were called on to recite the facts of the case or to explain the rationale and that sort of thing. If you didn’t know it, it could be quite embarrassing. It was edifying for everybody.”7 This helped students learn how a slight change in facts could change the outcome of a case, and enabled them to analyze the law under pressure, just as they would have to do in a courtroom.


The intellectual and personal challenges of the school were great, but by applying his well-honed work ethic to his Harvard classes, Scalia thrived. He ranked in the top 5 percent of his class after the first-year grades were computed. In recognition of this achievement, he was invited to join the staff of the prestigious Harvard Law Review. The publication put out eight issues per academic year, comprising more than sixteen hundred pages of articles and notes of interest to those in the legal world. Staff members prepared several editions at once, selecting, writing, or editing articles for future editions, while checking citations and proofreading galleys or page proofs for editions about to be published. Students worked in the law review’s office in Gannett House for over forty hours per week, making it almost impossible to remain current with their daily classwork. But since law review membership was considered a mark of success, ensuring a better job after law school, it was a task worth undertaking.8


While being on the staff of the law review was good, being elected an editor was even better. By his third year, Scalia was Notes coeditor for Volume 73, making him responsible for writing or coauthoring several unsigned law notes and for editing other students’ comments and critiques of current Supreme Court cases, some running up to fifteen pages long. The job of an editor was even more demanding. As the Harvard Law yearbook put it, an editor “has two full-time jobs—and time for only one.”9


Life for the Law Review staff was always lively, and Scalia helped to make it so. The Harvard class was predominantly liberal. There were many conservatives sprinkled among the student body, but Scalia was the only one who served on the law review. That never intimidated him; he loved to argue with his fellow classmates on any issue. “He has those bushy eyebrows that furrow up when he’s concentrating,” said fellow law review member and Harvard law professor Philip Heymann, “and for 45 minutes on end, he had that furrowed look.”10 “If you didn’t feel like having a good debate about something,” Heymann continues, “you’d better avoid him.”11 Frank Michelman, who served as Notes coeditor on the law review with Scalia, remembered him “as having delighted in chiding [Adlai] Stevenson liberals about the excesses of government regulation. . . . I don’t remember anyone I thought was more fun to be with and argue with.”12


Friends noticed that Scalia did not have any sympathy at the time for the plight of the poor people in the country, whom John F. Kennedy would later call “the forgotten Americans.” Daniel Mayers, who served on the law review with Scalia, recalled “conversations with him—not intellectual conversation, more like what you’d talk about drinking beer at night—where it was clear that he believed there were more important things in life than to go out and struggle on behalf of the poor, and that God or somebody had ordained there were inevitably going to be a lot of poor people in the world, and there wasn’t much to do about it.”13


Scalia did find time, though, to explore the links between his religion and his new profession during his years at Harvard. He was a member of the St. Thomas More Society all three years. According to the 1958 yearbook, the club “aspires to offer Catholic students at the Law School a community in which they can develop an appreciation of the relevance of Christian philosophy and values to the law and to contemporary society. It recognizes that the vocation of the Christian lawyer is to further the process of development by which the law responds to human needs.”14 The group met each month, had an annual banquet with a speaker from the Boston legal community, and participated in Communion breakfasts, which enabled them to interact with local legal experts and academics on “matters of interest linking the legal and spiritual realms.”15 For Scalia, pursuing this interconnection between religion and law became a lifelong mission.


•  •  •


The school’s faculty and philosophy of the day were dominated by one universal theme: follow the principles of the school’s former faculty member and leading conservative on the Supreme Court, Associate Justice Felix Frankfurter. Peter Edelman, whose time at the school coincided with two of Scalia’s years there, remembered, “Felix Frankfurter was God.” Observing Frankfurter’s work, Edelman recalled, “We . . . were taught judicial restraint and neutral principles. We were taught that if one used the right method, it would yield the right answer. If it happened that one side tended to win fairly routinely, this was incidental, merely the product of the methodology.”16 William Wiecek, who also attended Harvard during Scalia’s time there, recalls the affection held during that time for “Our Felix” by the faculty, and their moniker for him, “Teacher of the Law,” which was invented by their beloved Dean Griswold.17


The curriculum at that time was shaped largely by two casebooks. The first was The Legal Process: Basic Problems in the Making and Application of Law, coauthored by Henry M. Hart Jr., a former assistant to and coauthor with Frankfurter when he taught at Harvard Law School, and Albert M. Sacks, a former Frankfurter Supreme Court law clerk, both of whom were self-restraint advocates who taught at Harvard. It outlined a Frankfurter-style theory of judging by an adherence to a clear set of decision-making rules rather than ideology. As Wiecek explained, “Where there are no controlling precedents that would dispose of the case on the basis of its authority alone, judges had to articulate the reasons for their result and lay out that reasoning in a coherent manner. This was meant to avoid arbitrary or irrational bases of judging, such as the judge’s hostility to a party’s counsel.”18


The other influential casebook was The Federal Courts and the Federal System, written by Professor Hart and another of Frankfurter’s disciples, Professor Herbert Wechsler of Columbia Law School. This book was described by William Wiecek as “the single most influential casebook in American legal education.”19 Students in the third year used the book in an advanced course in public law and judicial administration in which the principal emphasis was on “the central problems of legal statesmanship in the delimitation of the powers of the government with which the federal courts have been and are confronted.”20


Proponents of Frankfurter’s view heard a clear, straightforward explanation of that philosophy in the Oliver Wendell Holmes Lecture on April 7, 1959, near the end of Scalia’s second year at the school. The speech, “Toward Neutral Principles of Constitutional Law,” was given by the casebook coauthor Herbert Wechsler. Frank Michelman later wrote of the importance of this occasion: “In those days, the Holmes Lectures were truly festival events for which everyone turned out, and in fact two of the most famous lecturers in the series occurred on our watch as students: Learned Hand’s probing and eloquent ‘The Bill of Rights’ in 1958, and Herbert Wechsler’s daring ‘Toward Neutral Principles of Constitutional Law’ in 1959.”21


Michelman recalled that in theorizing about “the role of courts in general and the Supreme Court in particular in our constitutional tradition,”22 Wechsler offered a disciplined critique of the Supreme Court’s decision making. He argued that while the Supreme Court “cannot escape the duty of deciding whether actions of the other branches of the government are consistent with the Constitution, when a case is properly before them,” that what mattered most was “the standards to be followed in [the] interpretation” of the Constitution.23 Rather than seeking to right an individual wrong, a correctly decided case is “one that rests on reasons with respect to all the issues in the case, reasons that in their generality and their neutrality transcend any immediate result that is involved.”24 Using this approach, Wechsler critiqued the Supreme Court’s liberal ruling five years earlier in Brown v. Board of Education that segregation in public schools was unconstitutional. Despite the fact that Wechsler favored the result in this case, he made clear that only a neutral, “principled decision” should allow the Court to consider extending the desegregation decision to other areas of public life, such as public transportation, hotels, and recreation businesses. And for him, Brown, with its reliance on data dealing with the self-esteem of children in segregated schools rather than legal precedents, was more politically motivated than principled.25


As Wechsler saw it, the Brown case “rested on the view that racial segregation is, in principle, a denial of equality to the minority against whom it is directed; that is, the group that is not dominant politically and, therefore, does not make the choice involved.”26 For Wechsler, this was not a neutral principle, as “the question posed by state-enforced segregation is not one of discrimination at all.” Rather, he posited that the more neutral principle was “the denial by the state of freedom to associate,” as the denial of this right “impinges in the same way on any groups or races that may be involved.” For Wechsler, the more principled way to resolve the school segregation cases was to answer the following question: “Given a situation where the state must practically choose between denying the association to those individuals who wish it or imposing it on those who would avoid it, is there a basis in neutral principles for holding that the Constitution demands that the claims for association should prevail?”27 Lending credence to Wechsler’s argument was the fact that Frankfurter, the self-proclaimed wearer of the judicial self-restraint mantle passed down by his judicial heroes and mentors, Louis D. Brandeis and Oliver Wendell Holmes, was reluctant to join Chief Justice Warren’s opinion, though he ultimately supported it.28


It was a powerful argument, and it had a significant effect on the entire Harvard Law community. Michelman recalled: “It was stunning. Professor Wechsler had stood before us declaring himself unable to explain the legitimacy of Brown. He had done so by way of illustrating . . . what he called ‘neutral principles’ and their bearing on adjudicative legitimacy. The aptness of the illustration was later to be very sharply questioned, but no one can doubt its having been good for memorability. From personal knowledge I can say the illustration was well chosen to leave the neutral-principles thesis deeply imprinted in the minds and memories of those in attendance.”29 Scalia classmate Mayers recalls of that speech: “We were all very struck by this argument that there were neutral principles of law which, if you really disciplined yourself, you could apply without regard to your own political preferences.”30 In Michelman’s words, the “core of the lesson” for the judicial process was clear: “The adjudicative act earns its legitimacy by contracting a debt to the future, for which its author signs in the script of neutral principle. In that signature lies ‘the very essence’ of the judicial (as opposed to the political) method of decision-making.”31


Scalia later claimed that he did not attend the lecture, a claim that many questioned. Michelman conceded, “I cannot today claim eyewitness recall of . . . Nino attending the lectures, but I’d lay odds that [he] attended. . . . Everybody did. It was de rigueur.”32 Regardless of his attendance, Scalia certainly would have been familiar with Wechsler’s message since the law review board edited his speech for its first article in the following year’s issue.33


While Georgetown shaped Scalia’s view of his religious mission, Harvard Law School layered over that foundation both a refinement of his political conservatism and an understanding of his legal mission to realize it. The conservatism and judicial self-restraint theories of Felix Frankfurter, the “legal process” lessons of Frankfurter’s acolytes on the Harvard Law faculty, and the “search for neutral principles” of Wechsler laid the cornerstone for Scalia’s theories for working in the law. As Peter Edelman put it:


Reading Justice Scalia’s opinions thirty years later, there is a sense of déjà vu. Harvard may have moved on to Critical Legal Studies and other postmodern curiosities, but much of Justice Scalia’s work reads like the Harvard Hit Parade of the 1950s. Justice Scalia is no doubt a product of many influences; one, most assuredly, is the Harvard Law School of the 1950s. Like Justice Frankfurter, Justice Scalia seems to believe that methodology is a significant part of the message. He spends a great deal of time defending his method of reading the Constitution, to the point where it sometimes means to tell us that the results on the merits are incidental.34


The raw materials were there for Scalia to exercise his affinity for using a textual analysis and historical originalism when considering his decisions. What made it so perfect, though, was the harmony between this approach and his earlier experiences. Like the close, textual analysis taught him by his father, and the literal biblical tradition favored by his faith, this conservative legal approach could reach his desired policy goals by relying on a careful reading and application of ancient legal sources.


•  •  •


In his final year of Harvard Law School, Scalia met another person who would have a lasting influence on his life: a senior student in English at Radcliffe (Harvard’s women’s college) named Maureen McCarthy. They met on a blind date, and had a seven-month courtship before marrying on September 10, 1960. They jokingly referred to it as a “mixed marriage” because he was of Italian descent while her ancestors were Irish. After Scalia’s magna cum laude graduation from Harvard Law they spent their first year out of school traveling in Europe. Years later, Scalia would say, “Actually, the main reason she married me was that, after graduation, I had a Sheldon Fellowship. Under this traveling fellowship, Harvard gives you money to travel with virtually no strings attached, with one exception. You cannot enroll for a degree in any university, which, after seven years of college and law school, was the farthest thing from my mind!”35 This fellowship allowed Scalia to take his new wife to many of the locales he had seen while studying at the University of Fribourg during his Georgetown years.


Maureen was a devout Catholic, like her new husband. When it came to the family plans, Scalia explained, “We’re just old-fashioned Catholics, you know, playing what used to be known as Vatican Roulette.”36 Indeed, practicing no birth control, the Scalias would welcome their first child into the world, a daughter they named Ann Forrest, a year after they were married, on September 2, 1961. In time, they would have nine children, born over a nineteen-year span, and by 2012 the only child of his extended family’s generation would be a grandfather to thirty-three children.


Maureen Scalia filled the same role with their children that Scalia’s own mother had with him. “She went to all the [kids’] games,” he said, to which Maureen Scalia added, “I would get five minutes at each on a Saturday.”37 While Scalia became engrossed in his legal work, his wife remained fixed in the real world. Noting the disparity, she would call her husband “Mr. Clueless.”38


After the year of travel, Scalia’s first job out of law school was in the prominent Cleveland, Ohio, law firm of Jones, Day, Cockley & Reavis. Partner James Lynn loved to tell the story of how he hired one of Harvard’s finest students to join his firm. Lynn happened to be on Harvard’s campus late one Saturday night looking for future law graduates to interview. Knowing that the best people might be found working on the law review, Lynn made his way to the publication’s office in the library on the top floor of Gannett House. There he spied a heavyset, bushy-eyebrowed, black-haired law student who happened to be the law review’s notes coeditor. The young man was buried in law books editing a manuscript. This was hardly an unusual situation. As classmate Daniel Mayers recalled, Scalia “would bring cannoli from a Cambridge bakery to the office and eat them hunched over his desk” while doing his work.39 Even though Scalia made clear to the man interrupting him that Cleveland was hardly where he envisioned moving, Lynn finally persuaded the earnest student to join him for a late night meal of bacon and eggs at a restaurant on Harvard Square.


Lynn pursued Scalia for two months, and was certain he had found the right man for the job when he observed Scalia on a trip to interview with the firm. Holding a drink in his hand and leaning against the fireplace mantel in the senior partner’s Shaker Heights home, Scalia held his own in an argument with eight other senior members of the firm over the merits of a Harvard Law Review article he had edited on the Supreme Court’s decisions dealing with Sunday blue laws forcing businesses to close for the day. Lynn recalled later: “He already had that habit of getting intensely serious with those heavy black eyebrows of his scrunching up and his jaw setting so that he spoke without moving his jaw much. We were shouting at each other saying things like, ‘How did you ever make law review?’ It didn’t seem to bother him that everyone was on the other side.” Scalia gave no quarter and, job or no job, he was still arguing until three in the morning with the men who would vote on his hiring. “It was one against eight,” one partner, Richard Pogue, said later. “He was so intense and enthusiastic. I tell you, it was the best recruiting session I have ever been to.”40


When he was offered the job, Scalia accepted. Scalia later told a gathering of law students and recent law graduates at a Philadelphia meeting of the Federalist Society, “I worked for my first job in Cleveland. Cleveland! The New York law firms were already sweat shops, but [the lawyers working at] Jones Day, did not work nights, or weekends, unless it was an emergency.” By working there, Scalia added, it allowed him to “fulfill his other responsibilities to his family, to his church, and to his community.”41 For the next six years Scalia worked in Cleveland, continuing to impress every member of the firm.


While his personal and professional lives improved dramatically, the course of his religious life took an unexpected turn. Scalia’s faith was tested, first by the nature of American politics, and later by Pope John XXIII’s religious reforms. Like many Catholics in 1960, Scalia, eligible for the first time to vote in a presidential election, was delighted to see a Catholic from Boston, Senator John F. Kennedy, run for president. With a chance to become the first member of his faith to win the office, Kennedy found himself in a difficult religious situation in the West Virginia Democratic primary. Faced with the latent and open bigotry of the heavily Protestant electorate in the state, fueled by Senator Hubert Humphrey’s campaign song, “Give Me That Old Time Religion,” Kennedy had to deemphasize his religious background.42 Speaking to the national convention of the American Society of Newspaper Editors in Washington, D.C., on April 21, 1960, Kennedy assured everyone that the Catholic Church “has no claim over my conduct as a public officer sworn to do the public interest.” For him, this meant that, “I do not speak for the Catholic Church on issues of public policy—and no one in that church speaks for me.”43 The argument was persuasive enough to the West Virginia voters that Kennedy won the state easily, taking more than 60 percent of the vote, and Humphrey was forced to withdraw from the race for the presidential nomination.


During the general election campaign, Kennedy, whose religious views were not especially devout, told a gathering of Protestant ministers at the Greater Houston Ministerial Association on September 12, 1960, “what kind of church I believe in . . . should matter only to me.” As he explained: “I believe in an America where the separation of church and state is absolute—where no Catholic prelate would tell the President (should he be Catholic) how to act, and no Protestant minister would tell his parishioners for whom to vote—where no church or church school is granted any public funds or political preference—and where no man is denied public office merely because his religion differs from the President who might appoint him or the people who might elect him.”44 Creating a separation between his personal faith and his public duties, Kennedy added: “I believe in a President whose religious views are his own private affair, neither imposed by him upon the nation or imposed by the nation upon him as a condition to holding that office.” Later in the speech, Kennedy seemed ready to construct, in the words of Thomas Jefferson and James Madison, his own personal “high wall of separation” between his religion and his political obligations: “I am not the Catholic candidate for president. I am the Democratic Party’s candidate for president, who happens also to be a Catholic.” Then, repeating his line from the West Virginia primary speech, he added: “I do not speak for my church on public matters, and the church does not speak for me. Whatever issue may come before me as president—on birth control, divorce, censorship, gambling or any other subject—I will make my decision in accordance with these views, in accordance with what my conscience tells me to be the national interest, and without regard to outside religious pressures or dictates. And no power or threat of punishment could cause me to decide otherwise.”45 Michael Sean Winters, a journalist who covered the Catholic Church, correctly described Kennedy’s view of the relationship between religion and politics this way: “For Kennedy, religion was private . . . denying the public consequences of his faith.”46 As a result, Kennedy “was a candidate first, and a Catholic second. . . . He was trying to lay to rest the fear of overt papal intrusions in a Catholic presidency as well as the fear that, as a Catholic, he was of a certain cast of mind attuned to obedience, mystery, and dogma.”47


Like so many of Kennedy’s legendary speeches, these words contained the perfect pitch and tone to secure his election, but they cost him the support of conservative Catholics like Antonin Scalia. The notion that Kennedy would disregard his Catholic roots in the Oval Office was distasteful to Scalia. “I was offended by John F. Kennedy when he was running for president and said he hoped no one would vote against him because of his religious affiliation,” Scalia later recalled, noting that the views of the abolitionists and many public decency laws, such as those against bigamy and public nudity, all had their basis in religion.48 When Scalia later faced a similar choice serving on the United States Supreme Court, blogged Catholic law professor Rick Garnett, he would not “put aside” his religious views and teaching in the performance of his duties.49 He explained his views as a federal judge: “A religious person cannot divide his view of man. He can’t separate religion from his own natural inclinations. Catholicism is not some superficial overlay. . . . It is who I am and how I see [the world].” For Scalia, “religiously motivated work is not un-American. . . . Official public expression of God and God’s law distinguish us from most Western countries.”50


Years later, Scalia would use these arguments to try to persuade an audience that religion did not drive his judicial decision making. But few would believe him because, when put in a situation similar to that of Kennedy, Scalia reached the opposite conclusion, and pursued a different course.


This debate over the role of religion in the White House was a precursor of what was to come for the followers of the Catholic faith. On October 11, 1962, Pope John XXIII convened the 21st Ecumenical Council of the Catholic Church. Called the Second Vatican Council, or Vatican II, because for only the second time the council met at St. Peter’s Basilica in the Vatican, over the next four years, up to 2,300 Catholic religious figures from around the world met to determine the direction of the Church in the modern world. The participants reviewed all of the religion’s teachings, finishing under Pope John’s successor, Pope Paul VI. The sixteen documents that they promulgated changed the face of Roman Catholicism. Perhaps the biggest change coming from Vatican II, and the one that had the greatest impact on the thinking of Catholics such as Scalia, was in the baseline philosophy governing these changes. The existing approach of a “return to the sources,” promulgated in Vatican I nearly a century earlier was abandoned in favor of “updating and modernizing.” This new approach went “beyond the sources” in a process sometimes called the “new theology.”51


No longer was the Catholic faith to be governed vertically by monarchical, hierarchical relationships within the religious bureaucracy or between the priests and their congregations. The new model was more open, with equal participation between the priests and their parishioners. Masses would be said in the congregants’ native language, meaning a switch from Latin to English in the United States, and with the priest facing the congregation (instead of away from them toward an altar) and inviting all to participate fully in the liturgy. Religion would be more inclusive, even to visitors from other religions, with readings being made available in new English translations. Worshippers were taught and encouraged to think for themselves, to interpret the Bible and their religion themselves, and work side by side with their priest and others in the congregation, sharing their new understanding. As a result of this change, many American Catholics would begin to drift away from the strict observance of the past to develop their own form of the religion, with many, possibly even a majority, choosing to take an “à la carte” approach, picking and choosing those parts of the religion that they wanted to follow.


The precise text of the old Catholic sources no longer mattered as much as what was called “the spirit of the [Vatican II] council.” As church historian Father John W. O’Malley explains: “ ‘Spirit’ here meant an overriding vision that transcended the particulars of the documents and had to be taken into account in interpreting the council. The vagueness of the ‘spirit’ is brought down to earth and made verifiable when we pay attention to the style of the council, to its unique literary form and vocabulary, and draw out their implications. Through an examination of ‘the letter’ (form and vocabulary) it is possible to arrive at ‘the spirit.’ ”52 This was certainly not the textual, historical approach taught to Scalia by his father, using his theory of “literalness.” Said David Snow, a partner in the Jones Day firm who knew Scalia at the time, “In the sixties, I can recall him being perturbed by the liberalizations in the Catholic Church.”53 From the moment that Vatican II took hold in America, Antonin Gregory Scalia was a man out of tune with his time and his religion. He now realized that he was a member of a religious minority even within his Catholic faith, which itself was a minority in America. The double-sided nature of that identity as a minority would help to shape his later views and actions.





CHAPTER 4


Building a Résumé


After touring Europe with his new wife on the Sheldon Fellowship, and having learned legal theory in Cambridge, Scalia learned how to practice law in Cleveland. Traveling as though he were on a mountain train chugging its way to the top, Scalia began moving through a series of career stations. With each stop, he searched for the place that would occupy his prodigious intellect, and afford him the chance to use his argumentative skills in exploring issues that appealed to him, all the while offering him the power, public visibility, and upward mobility that he craved.


Operating out of the Huntington Bank Building in downtown Cleveland, the Jones, Day, Cockley & Reavis law firm was the perfect place for a young attorney to learn diverse aspects of a legal career, well outside the high-pressure world of New York firms. The firm was the most prominent one in Cleveland, with around seventy-five attorneys, large for that time. It would grow even larger over the next half-dozen years, adding another thirty attorneys. 1 In addition, it had an office in Washington, D.C.


Once there, Scalia was pressed into service in a round-robin approach to training associates, and was thus able to experience the full range of the practice, including litigation, antitrust, real estate, tax law, labor law, commercial law, wills, contracts, and even private international law. “He was one of the last of the real generalists in the sense that he wanted to do as much of everything as he possibly could,” remembers Herbert Hansell, a Jones Day partner from that time. “And he did damn near everything and he did it well.” 2 Most of his cases were, in Scalia’s words, “settled before trial, defaulted, or were already at the appellate stage.” 3 The only downside, another partner from that era, James Lynn, recalls, was that “he wanted to spend more time on a problem than you might like in a practice. But that’s part of what drove him to teach and later drove him to be a judge.” 4


Like those who knew him during the Harvard Law School years, the lawyers at Jones Day saw Scalia as one of the most conservative, brilliant, and fun-loving members of the firm. Daniel Elliott Jr., who overlapped with Scalia at Jones Day, said, “I remember the guy vividly. He was a real hard-core [Barry] Goldwater person. I interviewed [with Scalia, among others] in the fall of 1963, before Goldwater had a head of steam, and he was a very articulate advocate [of that point of view].” Another partner, David Snow, added, “He was one of the first Bill Buckley–type conservatives and was a big National Review fan.” 5 Always included in a group of young associates who met regularly for luncheon discussions on constitutional law at Chef Hector’s, a downtown Italian restaurant, Scalia stood out. “Those were exciting times,” recalled Jones Day attorney Robert Nelson. “All points of view were represented. Nino’s, of course, was one of the most conservative.” 6 To which Richard Pogue, the firm’s managing partner, added, Scalia had a “superb ability to express himself.” 7


Scalia loved to be the life of the party for the law firm gatherings. At the annual Christmas party, William Reale recalled, “the lawyers would get up and do skits and sing and Nino was always prominent at those events.” 8 Pogue told reporters that he found Scalia to have “a great sense of humor” and a lovely tenor voice that he used at office parties to sing operas and show tunes to entertain the guests. 9 “I wouldn’t say he’s terribly good at [playing the piano],” recalled James Lynn. “But he likes to hammer.” 10 James Courtney, a former partner at Jones Day, liked to recall how Scalia arrived at his home in Cleveland Heights for a Christmas party, slipping into the basement window well outside the house as he tried to press his face against a first-floor window to make a funny face at the guests inside. 11


As a junior associate in Jones Day, Scalia learned his craft by doing grunt work, assisting senior members develop cases for a range of state and federal courts. Even though he was a new attorney, they entrusted him with work for their major clients, a veritable who’s who of corporations in Cleveland, including: Sears, Roebuck, Ohio Bell, East Ohio Gas Company, Cleveland Cliffs Iron Ore, Ohio Brass, Clark Controller, Firestone Tire & Rubber, McGraw-Edison, and Chrysler.


During the summer of 1961, Scalia and another young associate, William Reale, helped prepare the defense in an antitrust case for some of Jones Day’s corporate clients. 12 It was a massive class action lawsuit involving over 25,000 claims that came to be known as the Electrical Equipment Antitrust Cases. The plaintiffs alleged over eighteen hundred price-fixing arrangements, in violation of the Clayton Act, by nineteen different electrical equipment product lines spread over thirty-five federal judicial districts. The Jones Day clients were Ohio Brass and the Clark Controller, which were municipally and investor-owned electrical utilities, in addition to some Rural Electrification Administration (REA) cooperatives also represented by the firm. Scalia recalled that his duties provided many lessons: “My participation was an intensive education in pre-trial practice, including pleadings, motions, interrogatories and depositions. I prepared our clients’ answers and objections to the complaints, requests for admissions, and interrogatories, and prepared interrogatories, requests for admissions, motions of various sorts and briefs in support of and opposition to motions. I assisted in preparing our clients’ witnesses for deposition and in preparing for deposition of the plaintiffs.” 13 Over time, Scalia took on more and more responsibility in the case, even being put in charge of running a meeting when the senior attorney was unable to attend. William Reale recalls of the performance, “I think he did a superb job—I was quite impressed.” 14 Scalia did not appear at trial for this case, as all but one of the cases were settled before going to trial.


The following year, in June 1962, Scalia got a chance to develop the legal theory behind the firm’s litigation strategy when he was asked by another senior partner, James Sennett, to help prepare a case for Sears, Roebuck. Sears filed a civil suit for damages as a result of the collapse of the plaster ceiling of a Cleveland Sears store on June 29, 1960, that injured people, damaged goods, and impaired the ability of the store to operate while repairs were made. The Cleveland Trust, which had leased the store to Sears since 1935, was named as the defendant. It was determined that the plaster from the ceiling had given way because the diamond-mesh lath, which held it to the wood frame, had been fastened with smaller and thinner nails than were recommended by the standard construction practices of the time. Sears alleged that there had been a “violation of the covenant to deliver and keep the building in good condition and repair,” and that there had been negligence in maintaining the property during the tenure of the lease. The case went to a jury trial in April 1964. Judge James Connell threw out the negligence aspects of the suit, leaving the jury to decide only whether Cleveland Trust had upheld its part of the lease to “deliver the building in good condition and repair.” When Sears won the suit, receiving damages of just over $29,000, Cleveland Trust appealed.


It was during the appeal that Scalia was given more responsibility than a young associate usually received, being charged with fashioning the legal theory for the appellate briefs in support of the judgment. It would be a tricky case to win, since the Cleveland Trust attorneys, Michael Gallagher and Edward Cass, from another prominent Cleveland law firm, Hauxhurst, Sharp, Cull & Kellogg, argued that the statute of limitations had expired. Their argument seemed to be a persuasive one, since the negligence portion of the case was no longer relevant and the lease dated back to the construction of the building nearly thirty years before. Ohio law required that such a suit, based on a contract or written promise, had to be filed within fifteen years of the completion of that agreement and within two years of the incident causing bodily injury.


Scalia’s argument in response was ingenious. He argued that since the lease was renewed several times since 1935, the building had been “constructively redelivered” within the statute of limitations. This meant that Cleveland Trust was still obligated to deliver and “keep [the building] in good condition and repair.” It was a persuasive argument and a three-judge panel of the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit agreed with Scalia’s position and held for Sears, which allowed the company to settle all of the other personal injury lawsuits relating to this incident on very favorable terms. 15


Though he was well on his way to making partner, in 1967 Scalia decided that, having built up a sufficiently long résumé in private legal practice to get a law school teaching position, the time had come for him to leave the practice of law. He accepted a position on the faculty of the University of Virginia School of Law. “I had intended to go into teaching,” Scalia, the son of a college professor, later told an interviewer. “Then, the first thing I knew, nearly seven years had passed.” 16


Scalia and Maureen packed up their five young children, and moved to historic and scenic Charlottesville, Virginia. The school’s original campus, or “the Grounds,” was designed and built by Thomas Jefferson, but the law school was in Clark Hall, on the western part of campus. The university was very traditional, still three years away from admitting women into its undergraduate program and abolishing its school uniform of men’s orange blazers and blue ties. 17 The law school was not yet in the top ten of America’s 134 accredited law schools (as it later would be), but the students were so valued by the nation’s elite corporate law firms and government agencies in Washington that the graduates had no trouble getting good jobs. 18


Scalia was still a generalist, teaching contracts, commercial code, and comparative law, and while he did not teach administrative law, he wrote extensively on the subject. He quickly amassed an impressive publication list. 19 Typical of the fine quality of his work was an article about a crisis in the Virginia appellate court, in which Scalia studied the state’s response to the problem of court congestion and the burgeoning number of case dockets. While Virginia had created eight new trial court systems, it had done nothing to increase the size of the appellate court structure. With what would become a trademark skill with language, Scalia wrote: “These external symptoms strongly suggest that the Commonwealth’s body judicial may be suffering from a disease that is extraordinarily (and some would say regrettably) rare among modern governmental institutions—microcephalia. Perhaps moved by fear of this malady, the General Assembly has prescribed a complete internal examination, the results of which it is now awaiting.” After proving through an impressive use of statistical charts that the caseload for the appellate courts had increased exponentially, the article argued for the creation of a lower appellate court. 20 But that did not happen.


While Scalia published, a time-honored requirement for gaining tenure, he decided that he did not want to remain at UVA long enough to become a candidate. With the election of Republican president Richard Nixon in 1968, he discovered that living in the city of Charlottesville made possible an even more attractive career path. With daily train service on Norfolk Southern’s Crescent Route to Washington, he could commute the 112 miles into the city frequently and develop contacts in the conservative Nixon administration. Soon, he was taking a leave of absence from the Virginia law school faculty to work in Washington full time.


By now, some of Scalia’s friends from Harvard and Jones Day had found their way into the Nixon administration, and in 1970 those contacts paid off when the new Office of Telecommunications Policy (OTP) was established. The OTP was charged with regulating the newly emerging cable television industry and was answerable to the president, its authority juxtaposed between the quasi-independent Federal Communications Commission (FCC) and the Office of Management and Budget (OMB). Clay T. “Tom” Whitehead, an unpretentious man in his early thirties, became the agency’s first director. Whitehead had been searching for months without success for a general counsel. When he mentioned the problem to former Jones Day partner James Lynn, then general counsel for the Department of Commerce, Lynn suggested Scalia. In January 1971, Scalia got the appointment. 21 It was in his capacity as general counsel for the Office of Telecommunications Policy that he began his political education, learning how to negotiate among competing people and interests and how to deal with both the White House and the executive branch to help form regulatory policy in the communications field. 22


Scalia’s first foray into the creation of executive branch policy was a challenging one. In the early years of television, most Americans received programs for free over one of the twelve Very High Frequency, or VHF, channels or the many Ultra High Frequency, or UHF, channels. But broadcast networks did not serve remote rural areas, and since signals traveled only in straight lines, those who lived in mountainous regions often could not receive a signal even from stations in their vicinity. Then, in 1948, John Walson of Mahanoy City, Pennsylvania, constructed the first cable television service, receiving broadcast signals using a mountaintop antenna and delivering the programming by cable to his customers. Soon others followed, and a new industry was born. 23 But the networks and eventually the FCC complained that this amounted to a rebroadcast of copyrighted programs.


Eventually, cable services began to encroach on areas served by broadcast television, and in 1966 the FCC put a freeze on cable television, preventing it from competing with the major networks in the largest hundred markets, mostly major cities and their environs. In addition, the FCC ruled that cable could not use copyrighted programming from the networks without paying the networks substantial royalties that the small companies could ill afford. The only way for cable systems to overcome the freeze was to apply for FCC approval, presenting evidence that their enterprise was in “the public interest” and that it was “consistent with the establishment and sound maintenance of UHF television broadcast service.” 24


The success of the cable industry depended on the resolution of these two issues, one concerning turf and the other money. After the cable industry won a Supreme Court case, Fortnightly Corp. v. United Artists Television, Inc., in 1968, allowing it to broadcast copyright-protected material into distant rural regions, Congress tried but failed to legislate a framework that would regulate that process. 25


In 1971, it became Scalia’s task to broker a “consensus agreement” among cable operators, broadcast networks, movie producers, and the FCC, in order to get the freeze lifted and allow cable television to serve not just rural areas, but to compete in major markets as well. The process took six months. Sol Schildhause, who negotiated the agreement for the FCC, recalled Scalia’s effort with admiration. “Let me tell you, that thing was hammered out. That was not written, that was blacksmithed. I mean there was blood on every word of that thing, there honestly was.” 26 Schildhause explained that the FCC was ready “to permit the importation of two distant signals into one of the major markets on the theory that you couldn’t make cable go without having at least that—something new to offer.” The problem was that successfully negotiating the agreement required secrecy, an ingredient that Scalia learned was in very short supply in Washington. Every time a draft agreement was proposed, it would be presented to a member of the Senate and the next day it would be leaked to all of the concerned parties in Washington. Says Schildhause, “That word was out. You couldn’t keep a secret because by that time we must have had twenty-five drafts and lots of meetings and you know how that goes. If it didn’t leak out, one way or another somebody was going to find out about it. Anyway, it was all over the place.” 27


Once they were ready to issue a letter of intent from the FCC regarding the new regulation, Whitehead of the OTP stepped in to argue for the rights of the movie and television producers who held the copyrights to programming that would be broadcast by cable companies. Sol Schildhause recalled: “The first thing you know there were a bunch of meetings set up . . . representing Clay Whitehead, and . . . running interference for the producers, was, believe it or not, Antonin Scalia.” 28 And so, four people, Schildhause, representing the FCC, Scalia, representing the OTP, Henry Goldberg, a lawyer representing the Nixon administration and its backers in the movie producing world, and Henry Geller, a lawyer representing the broadcast networks, “hammered out a compromise.” 29 Scalia’s work drew nothing but praise from those around him. Whitehead later told a reporter that the consensus agreement negotiations “brought out Nino’s ability to deal with real people and real situations that are inherently messy.” To which Henry Goldberg, whose interests were aligned with Scalia’s, added: “Something that impressed me was that despite his academic outlook he was able to hammer out this sort of compromise. . . . Some people doubted that Nino could mix it up at this level, but he could.” 30


The consensus agreement, known as the Cable Compromise of 1971, called on Congress and the courts to deal with the copyright exclusivity issues, presented a request by all parties concerned that legislation be passed, and offered a complicated formula using three concepts, “mandatory service,” “minimum service,” and “additional service” to determine when cable stations could operate in the largest hundred regions. It was this consensus agreement, agreed to by cable companies under pressure, that allowed the cable industry to develop and grow while protecting broadcast television’s copyrights. Eventually, it was incorporated into new copyright regulations in 1976. 31


Since the Office of Telecommunications Policy was also charged with dealing with the newly created Corporation for Public Broadcasting (CPB), this became part of Scalia’s portfolio as well. Although Nixon was initially a supporter of public broadcasting, by the time Scalia came to OTP at the beginning of 1971, the increasingly paranoid president had become convinced that the national news and public affairs division of the Public Broadcasting Service (PBS), which depended on the government for funding, was an “enemy” group staffed by relentless liberal journalists. 32 Nixon decided to try to take control of this agency, or, if he could not, to destroy it by cutting off its funding. Because the OTP was charged with preserving and protecting the PBS system, it meant that conservatives such as OTP head Tom Whitehead and Scalia, whose conservative political views were obvious to everyone around him, had to find a way to oppose the Nixon policy in order to preserve their agency, without destroying their own future political careers. “We were on the hot seat,” Whitehead told a reporter. “Assistants to President Nixon [H. R.] Haldeman, [John] Ehrlichman, and crew were yammering at us to try to get the [broadcasting] board to do this or that.” 33


When Whitehead got what he interpreted as “a rather incredible memo from the White House” ordering him to get a particular PBS station off the air, he turned the matter over to his general counsel. Recalls Whitehead: “Nino said, ‘hell, write back a memo that says it’s illegal.’ ” While Scalia acknowledged that that was not true, he added, “Hell, they don’t know that.” Whitehead told a reporter that he did precisely what Scalia had recommended and the White House soon dropped the issue. 34


In early 1971, the OTP was asked to prepare a long-promised legislative proposal for financing of the Corporation for Public Broadcasting for the president to submit to Congress. 35 Sensing that the support of the Nixon White House for funding the CPB was waning as the publicly funded network aired programs critical of administration policies, Scalia wrote a memo urging that since legislation to solidify the federal government’s financial support for CPB had long been promised, “an apparent change of heart at this point would be alleged to be politically motivated.” Rather than starving the network for funds, Scalia argued: “The best possibility for White House influence over the Corporation is through the Presidential appointees to the Board of Directors.” 36 On June 18, Scalia and Whitehead crafted another memorandum for the president, pointing out that “four more vacancies [on the CPB board] will also be filled [in 1972], giving us clear control of the Board.” They also recommended replacing CPB president John W. Macy Jr. with “a professional, apolitical President of our choosing as soon as discretion permits.” 37


Seeking to guide the White House in this direction, Scalia wrote several memos opposing the centralized control of the Corporation for Public Broadcasting, favoring instead funding to individual, local stations. The final version of Whitehead and Scalia’s proposal seemed ready for distribution by September 23. It recommended, among other things, “to induce CPB to change its orientation and emphasis on public affairs programming,” and to support the efforts of the new conservative appointees to the Board of Directors by replacing Macy and Chairman Frank Pace, while the White House worked to “keep a rein on the full-time CPB and PBS staffs.” 38


But Nixon wanted the entire funding for public television to be eliminated. The president had learned that PBS reporters Robert MacNeil and Sander Vanocur were going to launch a new weekly public affairs program that promised, in their words, to “try to reverse the usual focus of political reporting from the politician down to the people.” Said Vanocur: “We have taken an institutional view of politics in the past . . . in a sense [we] will be doing psychological reporting.” OTP staff secretary Jon M. Huntsman wrote, “The above report greatly disturbed the President who considered this the last straw. It was requested that all funds for Public Broadcasting be cut immediately.” 39


While the OTP was instructed to relay this instruction to the House Appropriations Committee, Whitehead showed courage in resisting. Instead, drawing on his planning with Scalia, in a memo to the president he argued: “We have identified several options for dealing with the public affairs programming of public broadcasting. In the short run, there does not appear to be any way to cut off Federal funds.” The problem, he explained, was that federal funds had already been transferred to the CPB, and any cutback of funds would spill over into educational and cultural programs. 40 After offering a variety of options for cutting back on PBS funding and shifting the money to local stations, Whitehead recommended instead that the tax laws be changed to prevent corporations and other foundations from supporting the political programs on public television. 41 Recognizing that such a change in the tax laws would inevitably result in controversy, Whitehead offered to open the administration’s attack with a speech on October 20 to a convention of the local public television stations. The memo circulated around the administration, but by mid-October the more moderate and long-range OTP proposals of Scalia and Whitehead were not winning. 42


On October 20, Whitehead became the point man for the Nixon administration’s attack on public broadcasting with his blistering speech at the annual convention of the National Association of Educational Broadcasters in Miami. 43 Whitehead was in the middle of negotiating between the public broadcasting industry and the government. When a frustrated Scalia saw that the White House was advocating the removal of public affairs broadcasting from the CPB portfolio, he decided that it was time to risk his political career by opposing the White House in order to protect the future of his agency and his boss. Just two days before Christmas, Scalia sent an “EYES ONLY” memorandum to Whitehead, declaring that the administration’s plan for the CPB Board of Directors was a loser and that the OTP—and Whitehead—should “dissociate yourself from this particular ‘initiative.’ ” 44


Whitehead did not follow Scalia’s advice, continuing to privately recommend to members of Congress how the CPB might be moved in a new, conservative direction. As Scalia predicted, the effort by the White House to take control of public broadcasting soon was made public and became the subject of controversy, with the American Civil Liberties Union, on February 20, 1972, issuing a fifty-five-page report charging that the White House had tried to “intimidate” and “starve” the industry. 45 When Congress ignored the White House and authorized funding for public broadcasting in 1972, Nixon vetoed the bill. It was not until a year later, after considerable negotiations among the CPB, PBS, and the White House, with the help of several new Nixon appointments to the CPB governing board, that Nixon, without any conditions involving public affairs broadcasting, signed a new two-year congressional reauthorization of public television.


Nixon’s attack on public broadcasting never ended, but his presidency did. On August 9, 1974, just two days after he finally took full control of the governing board of the CPB with five new appointments, he resigned from office as a result of the Watergate scandal.


•  •  •


While Scalia could not save the administration from political damage on the telecommunications issue, he once more displayed remarkable skill working behind the scenes, cutting through to the central issues in political disputes. And in doing so, he not only saved his career, but also won new admirers and supporters. Years later, a review of the telecommunications policy of the Nixon administration written for the Jimmy Carter White House concluded: “Scalia actually comes off looking very good. He’s about the only one.” 46


In each of these disputes Scalia learned how to master historical and government policy material, craft his summary, analyze and recommend policy in concise and clear memos, and adjust his recommendations as the developing disputes required. These were skills that would later serve him well in his next stop in the White House bureaucracy and later on the federal judiciary. But beyond that, Scalia learned how to deal within a governmental bureaucracy with sharply competing, partisan groups, remain in the middle of these combatants without being seen as an ally of either side, sometimes win his arguments, and develop theories that would allow him to take the high ground in the dispute. Once having survived and even won those battles, Scalia learned the best lesson of all—when to leave for another job so as not to make permanent enemies of people who might impede his future career. His next opportunity came when Professor Roger Crampton resigned as the chairman of the Administrative Conference of the United States, an independent research agency charged with analyzing the efficiency and fairness of federal agencies’ procedures and making recommendations to Congress and the White House for their improvement.


Scalia had never resigned his faculty position at the University of Virginia, so when the conference vacancy occurred, which was to be filled by an academic, he was well positioned. Unaffected by, or unaware of, Scalia’s opposition in the PBS funding dispute, President Nixon nominated him as the agency’s third chairman, and he took office after the Senate confirmed him on September 19, 1972. The Administrative Conference consisted of a chairman drawn from academia, a council of ten additional presidential appointees that acted like a “corporate board of members,” and an assembly of seventy-five to ninety-one members drawn from any agency that would be affected by the conference’s deliberations, plus scholars and members of the private bar who were experts in administrative law. As Scalia later explained: “[The conference’s] purpose was to identify the causes of inefficiency, delay, and unfairness in administrative proceedings affecting public rights, and to recommend improvements to the President, the agencies, the Congress and the Courts.” 47


For Scalia, it was the perfect job. The conference was a government research think tank that allowed him to develop contacts with federal officials throughout the government and prominent attorneys in administrative law, and to organize and solve academic-style governmental problems with little risk of making political enemies in the process. Even better, the position involved discussions with members of Congress as well as key executive officials who could become instrumental in his next career move. Scalia later explained that he “had the authority to call plenary sessions of the Conference and to fix their agenda, to recommend subjects for study, to receive and consider reports and recommendations before the assembly considered them, and to exercise general budgetary and policy supervision.” 48 As the chairman of the conference, Scalia was back in the familiar role of negotiating among competing parties: the White House, Congress, the courts, and various federal agencies. Years later, he explained his central goal in those years: “Most of my energy was devoted to the development and implementation of administrative procedures, throughout the government, that would ensure fairer treatment of all persons by federal agencies. . . . In all of my professional activities, I have regarded it as the supreme rule of our system that each individual is of equivalent worth, and must be treated by the government accordingly. In my personal life, my religious beliefs impose the same view.” 49


During Scalia’s time as chairman of the Administrative Conference a number of changes were successfully recommended for specific agencies in specific situations. Congress passed the conference’s recommendation abolishing the doctrine of sovereign immunity for lawsuits in which courts were reviewing actions by federal agencies. Congress also adopted verbatim the conference’s recommendations for improvements to the new Freedom of Information Act, including the imposition of civil monetary penalties against uncooperative agencies. The conference in those years was also instrumental in changing the Civil Service procedures dealing with “adverse actions against Federal Employees,” changing federal parole procedures to allow for a right to counsel and other guarantees, changing the procedures for certifying immigrant aliens for work, regulating publicity that could harm private individuals as part of the regulatory process of federal agencies, and regulating various environmental issues.


As part of his job, Scalia also became well known to Congress as he testified before them on a wide variety of legislative proposals. Not all of his recommendations were calls for change. As Scalia later explained: “Some recommendations were framed not in terms of what to do, but rather in terms of what to avoid—for example, the recommendation cautioning against Congress’s imposition of complex rulemaking procedures, which has been followed with few exceptions.” 50 For Scalia, these years from 1972 to 1974 were perfect for applying his interest in administrative law to governmental policy making. He was able to further develop his personal contacts in Washington in order to take the next step in his career.


After two years of work on the Administrative Conference, Scalia was ready to get back into the political fray in the hopes that it would propel his career even higher. And, as luck would have it, the perfect position opened up, but at exactly the wrong time for the man appointing him.





CHAPTER 5


The President’s Legal Adviser


Fourteen years had passed since his graduation from Harvard Law School before Antonin Scalia was appointed to what he thought was his dream job: assistant attorney general and the head of the Office of Legal Counsel in President Richard M. Nixon’s Department of Justice. But within days of his nomination on July 30, 1974, he learned that it had the potential to become a political nightmare that could wreck his career in government. As Scalia later recalled about his life in the disintegrating Nixon administration: “It was a sad time. It was very depressing. Every day, The Washington Post would come out with something new—it trickled out bit by bit. Originally, you thought, It couldn’t be, but it obviously was. As a young man, you’re dazzled by the power of the White House and all that. But power tends to corrupt.”1


With members of the executive branch deserting the Nixon administration or being purged from their positions by an administration obsessed with loyalty, the Office of Legal Counsel job opened up. The previous occupant, Robert Dixon Jr., appointed by then–Attorney General Elliot Richardson, had not endeared himself to the Nixon crowd when he wrote a cautionary memo warning that any effort by a sitting president to withhold evidence from an investigation of possible impeachment would provoke “a constitutional confrontation of the highest magnitude.”2 When Dixon left, Associate Deputy Attorney General Jonathan Rose, a former partner at Jones Day, recommended Scalia.


Deputy Attorney General Laurence H. Silberman, who in time would become one of Scalia’s closest friends in Washington, received the recommendation with pleasure. Silberman liked the tough Italian American attorney from New York City, but, more than that, he liked the talent that Scalia had shown in his Office of Telecommunications Policy and Administrative Conference work. Silberman would later say, “There was a range of potentially serious constitutional issues, and it was absolutely imperative to have a first-class legal mind and a man of courage.”3 There was something in the position for both sides. For the Nixonians, the selection of the conservative Scalia would provide them with a more supportive legal voice, and for Scalia, it was a promotion to a new position with responsibilities on a full range of issues.


The head of the Office of Legal Counsel assists the attorney general in rendering formal written and informal verbal opinions, and offers legal advice on all manner of domestic and international legal issues for the president, the cabinet, and executive agencies. The official governmental description for the post makes clear the wide-ranging nature of the responsibilities: the office drafts legal opinions of the attorney general and also provides its own written opinions and oral advice in response to requests from the Counsel to the President, the various agencies of the executive branch and offices within the department. Such requests typically deal with legal issues of particular complexity and importance or about which two or more agencies are in disagreement.4 Another feature of the position that might not have escaped Scalia’s attention was that this was the position from which William Rehnquist had been selected to become a Supreme Court justice in 1971.


As Scalia saw it, his real position was to help his many clients stay out of legal trouble in the performance of their political tasks. Because of the wide-ranging executive branch responsibilities of the position, some people called it the “government lawyers’ lawyer,” but those familiar with the importance of the position for keeping the White House out of legal trouble, such as Justice Felix Frankfurter, liked to call the position by a much simpler title, the president’s legal adviser.5


One attraction of the new job to the academic-minded Scalia was the wide-ranging and unpredictable nature of the research tasks associated with it, changing as often as the daily news. But it soon became clear to him that it would also give him something that his other governmental positions had lacked: constant access to higher officials who could advance his career. Since part of the job involved advising the attorney general and the White House, it would give Scalia the opportunity to work directly with Nixon’s attorney general, William Saxbe, and with the Nixon White House as well.


But days after Scalia’s nomination, Richard Nixon resigned from the presidency, on August 9, 1974, rather than endure possible impeachment due to the Watergate scandal. For the nation, it marked the end of a nightmare. For Scalia, though, it meant his job was now at risk. He served at the pleasure of the president, meaning that Gerald R. Ford, were he so inclined, could withdraw the nomination and fill the slot with one of his own people. Fortunately for Scalia, the new administration wanted him. He would now have the chance to work alongside President Ford’s energetic staff. Led by chief of staff Donald Rumsfeld and his deputy, Dick Cheney, both advocates of strong presidential power, Scalia would be in a position to assist them in restoring the luster to the office that Nixon had tarnished. Now satisfied with his governmental position, Scalia resigned his faculty position at the University of Virginia.


The timing for advocates of presidential power was not optimal as members of Congress and the press, fueled by public anger over the Nixon scandal, sought to dismantle the power of the Nixon White House. Scalia would later describe the challenges of his tenure of office in the new Ford administration this way: “It was a terrible time, not for the Republican Party, but for the presidency. It was such a wounded and enfeebled presidency, and Congress was just eating us alive. I mean, we had a president who had never been elected to anything except . . . what? A district in Michigan? Everything was in chaos. It was a time when people were talking about ‘the imperial presidency.’ I knew very well that the 900-pound gorilla in Washington is not the presidency. It’s Congress. If Congress can get its act together, it can roll over the president. That’s what the framers thought. They said you have to enlist your jealousy against the legislature in a democracy—that will be the source of tyranny.”6 For the members of the Ford Justice Department, it would be, in Scalia’s words, a “struggle to maintain the sphere of independence accorded to the Executive.”7


Scalia realized this when he was asked by Attorney General Saxbe to generate a legal opinion as to whether Richard Nixon owned, and thus controlled the release of, or possible destruction of, all the papers and materials from his administration deposited with the administrator of general services. In addition, the attorney general was asked to advise on the question of “the obligations of the government with respect to subpoenas or court orders issued against the government or its officials pertaining to them.”8 There is little doubt that the departed Robert Dixon, fearing the “misplacing” or destruction of key documents, would have held that Nixon had no rights to ownership of his White House papers. While Scalia had a duty to the new president, and a professional obligation to give his best legal judgment, he knew that his answer would determine how Republican political operatives who could help or hurt his career would view him.


Scalia’s memo to Attorney General Saxbe on the ownership and control of the Nixon papers was a textbook defense of an expansive presidential power. “Beginning with George Washington,” Scalia began his memo, “every President of the United States has regarded all the papers and historical materials which accumulated in the White House during his administration, of a private or official nature, as his own property.”9 Scalia argued that the basis for his belief in a former president’s total control of his official White House papers came from the theory of former president William Howard Taft: “The office of the President is not a recording office. The vast amount of correspondence that goes through it, signed either by the President or his secretaries, does not become the property or a record of the government unless it goes on to the official files of the department to which it may be addressed. The President takes with him all the correspondence, original and copies, carried on during his administration.” Scalia cited section 507 of the Federal Records Act of 1950, a 1951 memorandum from the assistant solicitor general, and a 1955 joint resolution of Congress that set up the presidential library system to argue that it is impossible to differentiate between personal and official papers of the president. Accordingly, “a President has title to all the documents and historical materials—whether personal or official—which accumulate in the White House during his incumbency.”10


Scalia supported his view by pointing out that the previous three presidents “have had to make special provisions through the means of the presidential library to take care of their papers.” To which Scalia added, “So far as we are aware, no members of Congress disagreed.” All in all, Scalia concluded, “the historical precedents, taken together with the provisions of the Presidential Libraries Act, indicated that the papers of President Nixon should be considered his personal property.”


Despite this conclusion, there was also something in this opinion for Nixon’s opponents, as Scalia determined that such materials could be reached by subpoenas. As he argued, since “the government is merely the custodian and not the owner of the subject materials,” it meant “that those portions of the documents and materials in question which are the subject of court orders or subpoenas issued before August 9 and addressed to the United States or to Richard M. Nixon, President of the United States, must be treated and disposed of in accordance with the terms of those orders or subpoenas. Such obligation would supersede any demand by President Nixon for return of the materials subject to those orders or subpoenas.” In conclusion, Scalia argued that, with respect to “those portions of the materials which are not subject to court order or subpoena, being the property of former President Nixon, should generally speaking be disposed of according to his instructions. These materials are, however, affected by public interest which may justify subjecting the absolute ownership rights of the ex-President to certain limitations directly related to the character of the documents as records of government activity.”


What was interesting about Scalia’s memo was what he chose not to include. There was no consultation with Special Prosecutor Leon Jaworski, who was investigating the Watergate cover-up, or mention of the latter’s position strongly opposing Nixon’s custody and control of the White House materials.11 Later Scalia would say of his role as head of the Office of Legal Counsel: “We must call it down the middle. If we told our client only what he wants to hear, we wouldn’t be doing our job effectively.”12 The episode served as Scalia’s executive branch calling card with the new Ford administration and the Nixon conservatives who were trying to protect themselves. “It was a baptism under fire,” former associate deputy attorney general James Wilderotter later recalled. “It certainly was not a popular decision.”13


On the basis of this memo, Saxbe was able to advise Ford on the day that he pardoned Nixon: “To conclude that such materials are not the property of former President Nixon would be to reverse what has apparently been the almost unvaried understanding of all three branches of the Government since the beginning of the Republic, and to call into question the practices of our Presidents since the earliest times.”14 When Ford gave Nixon complete control over the papers as part of his September 8 pardon, the former president wrote Arthur Sampson, the director of the General Services Administration, that he would be donating “a substantial portion of my Presidential materials which are of historical value to our Country” and depositing them in a temporary archival facility in College Park, Maryland.15 Then, citing a provision that he would use for years thereafter to prevent White House tapes and documents from being released, Nixon said that he would make this donation only after a “meticulous, thorough, time-consuming” review to determine whether the materials should be released under federal law.16 Saxbe would say that he “had no advance warning” of the deal giving Nixon the “sole right and power of access” to the materials. White House counsel Philip Buchen claimed that this arrangement was made to keep the Ford administration from being “caught in the middle of trying on a case-by-case basis to resolve each dispute over the right of access or disclosure.”17 But Special Prosecutor Jaworski and Congress were not buying it. Three months later, Congress reversed the Ford administration’s position and passed a law compelling the federal government to take permanent custody of the Nixon papers and keep them in the District of Columbia area. When Ford signed the bill on December 19, the issue was heading to the Supreme Court.18


The Supreme Court ruled against Nixon’s ownership of the papers in the case of Nixon v. Administrator of General Services in 1977. Speaking through Justice William Brennan, the Court ruled that removing control of the White House papers from former President Nixon was not a violation of the constitutional separation of powers, did not undermine presidential powers, did not intrude into the confidentiality of the presidential position, and did not diminish either Nixon’s right to privacy or his First Amendment free speech rights.19 While eight members of the Court were against Nixon, the sole dissenter, sounding very much like OLC head Antonin Scalia, was William Rehnquist, who argued that making Nixon the sole president without control over his papers violated his constitutional rights and represented “a clear violation of the constitutional principle of separation of powers.”20


•  •  •


Next, Scalia happily waded into the fight to preserve the secrets of the Ford administration. In doing so, he would earn his stripes as the legal lieutenant of chief of staff Rumsfeld and deputy chief Cheney.


After the rapid collapse of the Nixon administration, members of Congress were hastily organizing all manner of investigations to unearth its excesses. The American public was demanding the dismantling of the imperial presidency and the creation of congressional limits that would prevent it from returning. For his part, though, Scalia studied Article II of the Constitution, which created the presidency, and his law books, to lay the legal groundwork for defending the power of the president.


President Ford was the former minority leader of the House of Representatives who, in taking the presidential oath of office, promised to “follow my instincts of openness and candor with full confidence that honesty is always the best policy in the end.” It was ironic that his first battle with the legislative branch would be over Congress’s effort to improve the Freedom of Information Act, or FOIA, with new amendments.


Spurred by the axiom of Justice Louis D. Brandeis that “sunlight is said to be the best of disinfectants; electric light the most efficient policeman,” the Freedom of Information Act was originally passed by Congress in 1966 with the intention of making government more open and thus keeping it honest.21 The original law was so expensive for those seeking to use it, so bureaucratically hard to implement, and so routinely evaded and even ignored by government officials, that it had virtually no impact on the government. Having seen the power of the disclosures that led to the downfall of the Nixon administration, and the difficulty of getting key materials such as the White House tapes, Congress was determined to pass a series of amendments that would make it easier to gain access to governmental documents.


The new bill, under consideration in September 1974, sought to increase access to papers, to diminish secrecy within government, and to allow both the people and the press access to information that they could use to hold the government accountable. Not surprisingly, governmental agencies, including the CIA and FBI, allied to oppose the bill. And their legal point man was the newly installed head of the Office of Legal Counsel.


Ford did not support the bill, but wrote on the legislative briefing book, “a veto presents problems. How serious are our objections?”22 Scalia believed that power could be maintained only by secrecy, which meant that he was determined to scuttle the Freedom of Information Act. So he helped to plan a strategy to do just that.


The administration’s opening assault on FOIA came on September 23, 1974, when CIA general counsel John Warner began trolling for the administration’s response to the bill. When he received confirmation that “Justice will recommend [a] veto,” and after learning that deputy attorney general Laurence Silberman was also “firmly in opposition,” Warner expressed the view that the Justice Department would recommend a presidential veto and “prepare a Presidential message which would indicate the President’s willingness to approve a bill from which the objectionable provisions have been deleted.”23


One day later, on September 24, while FOIA was being debated in the White House and the Department of Justice, Scalia, who was already inclined to back the presidency at every turn, learned how important it was for the Ford administration to derail FOIA. Consumer advocate Ralph Nader had sent a letter to the White House two weeks before, on September 11, requesting the release of all information relating to “the negotiating or communicating process between [President Ford’s] office (as Vice President and President) and Richard M. Nixon and his agents and representatives” leading to the controversial “full and absolute” presidential pardon issued by Ford for Nixon’s Watergate-related and other offenses on September 8. Nader argued that the Ford administration violated existing Department of Justice regulations dating back to 1962 requiring that a presidential pardon could be issued only “to anyone found guilty of a ‘violation of public trust involving personal dishonesty’ if there had been a conviction for a crime and a five-year waiting period had passed since that time.”24


Given the explosive nature of this controversy, the information sought was hardly something that the White House wanted to release. Scalia wrote a detailed memo to Phillip Areeda, counsel to President Ford, offering what would become his standard advice on all FOIA issues: stonewall and deny. Scalia put forward every conceivable argument he could construct to avoid granting Nader’s request. First, he argued, “There is some problem involved in determining the scope of the information request involved.” Second, since FOIA applies only to government agencies in seeking information release, Scalia advised that the White House was not such an agency and thus would not be covered, saying that “there are obvious constitutional questions as to whether it could be.”25 Scalia added that this argument had another advantage, “It should be noted that this conclusion would protect from disclosure President Ford’s Vice Presidential materials, as well as his Presidential materials, if they are now located in the White House office.”26 The message could not have been clearer: if there were any sensitive materials relating to the Nixon pardon, have them collected, ship them to the White House immediately, and let Nader try to argue against that position in federal court. This argument found favor with others in the administration. In the end, the White House did not release the materials to Nader.


On September 26, as a compromise FOIA bill forged in a congressional conference committee was readied for the president, Scalia began to rally the opposition to it. In a meeting on other issues with director of the CIA William Colby, the CIA’s general counsel, John Warner, and Attorney General Saxbe, Scalia raised the issue of the new FOIA measure, asking the CIA officials for the agency’s view. When the CIA officials insisted that the measure must be vetoed by the president, Scalia said that “if [they] wanted to have any impact, [they] should move quickly to make [their] views known directly to the President.” The advice seemed all the more pressing when Scalia added that neither the Department of State nor the Department of Defense would be recommending that the president veto the measure. Later that day, Scalia called the CIA, “urging” them to contact the White House regarding their opposition to the FOIA law, even providing the name of the White House staff member in charge of the legislation.27


Inside the White House, aides were telling the president that vetoing the pending legislation was sure to cause a political firestorm. Newly released documents from the Ford administration, some made public as a result of FOIA requests, round out the picture of how Scalia tried to derail the new FOIA legislation. The FOIA amendments were sent to Ford on October 8, so close to the upcoming October 18 recess that some in the administration gave thought to the idea of rejecting the measure using a pocket veto, that is, allowing the time needed for a presidential signature to expire. But there was never any doubt what the president would do.


Ford vetoed the bill on October 17, issuing a message that relied on many of the arguments made by Scalia and the Department of Justice to explain why it was “unconstitutional and unworkable.” He urged Congress to recraft the law with “more flexible criteria” and “additional latitude” in its timetable for responding to requests for declassification.28 Congress had a different response, finding the votes in each house to override Ford’s veto.


After the FOIA law was passed, Scalia searched for ways to direct a rearguard action undercutting its implementation by preventing the release of new documents in order to limit what he viewed as potential damage to the administration. As the head of the OLC, he directed a subcommittee of the Interagency Classification Review Committee (ICRC), a group of representatives of the various agencies that was charged with devising policies for dealing with FOIA requests. Scalia met with the subcommittee to plan ways to subvert the new law by moving to the federal court system as their next line of defense. The downside to this strategy, they all realized, was that such cases could be lost. Seeking to avoid the consequences of such a result, Scalia and his ICRC group searched for a mechanism to prevent the release of information. It was agreed that the ICRC did not have the necessary expertise and ability to take appropriate action.29


Scalia then turned his attention to devising ways to prevent FOIA from reaching into the White House. In this effort he showed how much he had learned about the necessary political maneuvering from the earlier OTP negotiations. First he wanted to present the appearance that the administration would be implementing the new legislation to the letter of the law. Charged with recommending guidelines for the implementation of the new FOIA amendments, Scalia wrote, “The President has asked me, in issuing these guidelines, to emphasize on his behalf that it is not only the duty but the mission of every agency to make these Amendments effective in achieving the important purposes for which they were designed.” Scalia sent a copy to counsel to the president Phillip Areeda. With that, the president followed Scalia’s suggestions that he orally instruct the attorney general on this issue in a meeting the following day.30


With the political cover established, Scalia used the White House’s request that he “consider which entities within the Executive Office of the President are ‘agencies’ for the purposes of the FOIA, as amended,” and thus covered by the law, to determine ways to limit the oversight power of the new legislation.31 Having publicly promised to observe the new FOIA amendments, Scalia devised every possible means to shield the Ford administration from being subjected to the new law. After his review, Scalia concluded that FOIA covered only some in the Executive Office based on four factors: “functional proximity to the President,” concluding that the more direct the reporting lines to the president the less likely that FOIA could reach it; the “authority to make dispositive determinations,” or agencies that make decisions rather than just recommendations would be covered; “constitutional basis for the functions performed,” or agencies performing presidential functions would not be covered; and “manner of creation,” or agencies created by law are more likely to be covered than ones established under the inherent executive power or executive orders. While the definition of the “White House Office” was not entirely clear, Scalia concluded, “It is clear from the legislative history that the FIA [sic] does not embrace the President’s immediate personal staff. . . . Presumably, it means that records maintained in the President’s own offices or maintained by his closest aides are beyond the scope of the FIA.”32 Since he performed “staff functions” for the president, did not have “independent functions,” and was “advising and assisting” the president, Scalia believed that he was not covered by the new act, either.


It is here that Scalia developed an ingenious means to exempt the White House from FOIA throughout the executive branch. He recommended that any group within an agency that might be subject to FOIA, but was in fact “advising and assisting” the White House, should be re-created as “a segregable subunit of the White House Office,” so that it would not be subject to FOIA. Implementing this “concept of a separate ‘White House Office’ ” throughout the executive branch agencies, Scalia explained, “should be fostered and strengthened in as many ways as possible,” using such devices as revised organizational charts displaying the new advisory subunit. As he saw it: “Judicial acceptance of such a functional division can greatly simplify our FIA [sic] problems with respect to the Executive Office.” For Scalia, this plan, which was circulated throughout the White House, would achieve his and their goal of placing the administration beyond the reach of the new FOIA while appearing to favor the new reforms.33 In advising this way, Scalia was, to turn Will Rogers’s aphorism on its head, a man who never saw a FOIA request that he liked. Throughout his tenure in office, indeed throughout his life, he would continue to oppose that act.


The FOIA fight revealed just how far Scalia had come in his early professional career and just how talented he was. He demonstrated to all around him an extraordinary legal skill, fully capable of finding the central components of very complicated issues and explaining them in the way most favorable to the administration. His memos were well-written models of comprehensiveness, clarity, and persuasiveness. Reading them, one had full confidence that the recommendations were complete and correct. Beyond this, though, there was a signature style now evident in every Scalia memo. Time after time, he knew the results that he wanted to achieve on an issue, and he demonstrated an ability to manipulate the information and recommendations that he offered to achieve those results.


•  •  •


In January 1975, Attorney General William Saxbe resigned to become ambassador to India and was replaced by Edward Levi, a former dean of the University of Chicago Law School. Levi was universally respected for his intellect and integrity, reminding one of an Ivory Tower intellectual. Once, while driving the attorney general home because his regular driver was unavailable, Scalia asked his boss where he lived. Levi responded that “he didn’t have the slightest idea; the driver just let him off every night, and he went in.”34 An unpretentious man, Levi appreciated it when Scalia invited him, Solicitor General Robert Bork, and Washington Post publisher Katharine Graham to dinner. After taking their drink orders, Scalia went to the locked liquor cabinet only to discover that the key that had been there moments before had disappeared, thanks to one of their toddlers. As Scalia later recalled, “I will never forget the image of the Attorney General, the Solicitor General, and I—and I think Kate joined us—crawling around on our hands and knees on the living room oriental rug, feeling for the missing key.”35


By that time, the Democratic-controlled Congress was launching a series of investigations into the Nixon and Ford administrations’ misuse of undercover and electronic surveillance by the FBI and the CIA against American citizens who were suspected of opposing government policymaking. Three investigative committees were formed in 1975. Senator Frank Church of Idaho chaired a Select Committee to Study Governmental Operations with Respect to Intelligence Activities, popularly known as the Church Committee. Congresswoman Bella Abzug of New York chaired the Subcommittee on Government Information and Individual Rights, and the House Select Committee on Intelligence, led by Otis Pike of New York, the so-called Pike Committee, simultaneously launched investigations into various government intelligence programs allegedly spying on organizations believed to be radical.36
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